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          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Good morning.

          3  I see all three of the really important people here.

          4  Two guys whose bills we're hearing today and the

          5  Chair and Council Member James is walking in.

          6                 Today the Committee on Housing and

          7  Buildings will consider three pieces of legislation,

          8  and for those of you that don't know, I'm

          9  Councilwoman Provenzano, the Chair of this

         10  Committee.

         11                 First, we will be considering Intro.

         12  No. 651. It's sponsored by Peter Vallone. A local

         13  law to amend the administrative code of the City of

         14  New York in relation to illegal conversions.

         15                 The next two are Tony Avella's.

         16  Intro. No. 644. A local law to amend the

         17  administrative code of the City of New York in

         18  relation to the installation of sprinkler systems in

         19  student housing.

         20                 And Intro. No. 679. A local law to

         21  amend the administrative code of the City of New

         22  York, in relation to the issuance of building

         23  permits for areas where a rezoning application is

         24  pending.

         25                 Intro. No. 651, in relation to
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          2  illegal conversions, is crafted to empower the

          3  Department of Buildings' enforcement officials to

          4  have the means to issue violations even when access

          5  is not obtained to a dwelling or premises, and

          6  authorizes the Department of Buildings to issue a

          7  violation when circumstantial indicators or evidence

          8  are present, such as multiple meters.

          9                 Current law does not allow inspectors

         10  to issue violations unless the inspector has been

         11  granted access to the premises.

         12                 Many people purposely evade the law

         13  by not allowing inspectors to enter the property.

         14                 Intro. No. 644, Tony Avella's

         15  legislation, is in relation to the installation of

         16  sprinkler systems in student housing. And it's

         17  clearly designed to promote fire, safety and student

         18  housing.

         19                 The bill would mandate that there be

         20  operational sprinklers in student housing and would

         21  impact any private schools, public schools, colleges

         22  or universities in the City that provide or

         23  supervise such housing.

         24                 The bill would also prohibit the

         25  occupancy or residency by a student in rooms or
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          2  apartments that do not have working sprinklers.

          3                 Intro. No. 679 is in relation to the

          4  issuance of building permits for areas where a

          5  rezoning application is pending.

          6                 It would prohibit the Department of

          7  Buildings from issuing certain types of permits for

          8  either new building, alteration, foundation and

          9  earth work, or demolition and removal within an area

         10  that is the subject of a rezoning application upon

         11  the filing of such application with the City

         12  Council, pursuant to the City Charter in accordance

         13  with the Uniformed Land Use Review Procedure, also

         14  known as ULURP.

         15                 The legislation does provide for an

         16  exception to this prohibition, to all Department of

         17  Buildings to issue permits when exigent

         18  circumstances involving safety and health exist

         19  within an area that is the subject of a rezoning

         20  application. Following the completion of the ULURP

         21  process, DOB may issue any necessary permits in

         22  accordance of all applicable provisions of zoning,

         23  laws and rules, within the area that was the subject

         24  of the rezoning.

         25                 Anyone wishing to testify on any of
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          2  these three bills, please sign in with the

          3  Sergeant-At-Arms. And for those of you that are

          4  unfamiliar with this Committee, I usually request

          5  that we have one spokesperson for organization and

          6  group.

          7                 I'm joined by my Committee members,

          8  Councilwoman Letitia James, Councilman Tony Avella,

          9  Councilman Peter Vallone, Jr.

         10                 We're going to do Intro. No. 651 --

         11  no. Yes. 651 first, which is Peter Vallone's, and

         12  then we'll do the two Avella bills.

         13                 Councilman, would you like to say a

         14  couple of words on your bill?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you.

         16  Thank you, Madam Chair, first of all, for moving so

         17  quickly on this bill and for so ably shepherding it

         18  to where it is today to receive its first hearing,

         19  as I believe it is an important one.

         20                 Intro. 651 attempts to address the

         21  major problem we have here in this City of illegal

         22  conversions. Illegally converted homes are a danger

         23  to the occupants, they're a danger to our first

         24  responders, and they're just plan bad for our

         25  communities, and they're not equipped to handle more
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          2  people than the zoning provides for.

          3                 I'm aware that allowing inspectors to

          4  give violations without entering an actual home may

          5  be considered a drastic step, but drastic steps are

          6  necessary to solve this problem.

          7                 So, I thank you, again, Madam Chair,

          8  for moving so quickly on this, and I look forward to

          9  working with you and all of my fellow colleagues on

         10  this.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Councilman

         12  Avella, what we're going to do is, because there's a

         13  lot of folks that want to testify on all three

         14  pieces of legislation, so, we're going to hear from,

         15  I'm going to let you speak in a second, from the

         16  Administration who will speak on all three bills.

         17  It's going to be kind of confusing, but bear with

         18  us.

         19                 Councilman Avella.

         20                 Always fun, though.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thank you,

         22  Madam Chair.

         23                 First of all, thank you for putting

         24  both of these bills on rather quickly.

         25                 Let me talk about the sprinkler bill
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          2  first, Intro. 644. It is very appropriate that we're

          3  having this hearing on this particular day because

          4  September has been designated as Campus Fire Safety

          5  Month by the United States House of Representatives.

          6                 In June 2004, a joint study by the

          7  United States Fire Administration, which is part of

          8  FEMA, and the United States Department of Commerce,

          9  National Institute of Standards and Technology,

         10  concluded that the chance of a fire causing or

         11  resulting in a fatality are significantly reduced

         12  with automatic fire sprinklers installed.

         13                 The danger of fires occurring in

         14  student housing on college campuses and off campus

         15  housing is very real, and has in recent years

         16  claimed the lives of too many young people, which

         17  may have been saved had fire sprinklers been

         18  installed.

         19                 While there may be a certain amount

         20  of cost involved in universities and schools

         21  installing sprinklers, the cost is far outweighed by

         22  the issue of safety, and when parents send their

         23  kids off to college, it is extremely important that

         24  they know that their children are safe in these

         25  environments.
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          2                 And in my opinion, the cost is well

          3  worth the money to protect their safety. I'm hopeful

          4  that today's hearing will bring out the issues

          5  involved, and I'm also hopeful that we should get

          6  some consensus rather quickly and move this

          7  legislation ahead.

          8                 New York City has actually been

          9  spared from a horrendous incident where there's been

         10  a dormitory fire, but other cities in this country

         11  in recent years have had several fires which have

         12  claimed the lives of multiple students. So,

         13  hopefully we can pass this legislation, make these

         14  changes and ensure that students in New York City

         15  are safe.

         16                 The other bill is Intro. 679, which,

         17  as you have so eloquently stated, would install a

         18  building moratorium on any neighborhood that is

         19  currently being reviewed for a zoning change.

         20                 Once the Department of City Planning

         21  had voted on that zoning change, the moratorium

         22  would go into effect until such time as the final

         23  body has approved the rezoning which in this case

         24  would be the City Council.

         25                 It is absolutely essential in my
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          2  opinion that this legislation be moved ahead.

          3                 The administration, the City Council,

          4  we have been working diligently since our election

          5  to rezone neighborhoods to accurately reflect the

          6  character of the neighborhood throughout the entire

          7  City.

          8                 It is unfortunate, though, that once

          9  we designate an area for rezoning, we have what we

         10  call unscrupulous developers rush in and demolish

         11  housing, pour foundations, sometimes illegally, in

         12  an attempt to beat the zoning, beat the ULURP clock

         13  and qualify under the old zoning.

         14                 In some cases, and we just actually

         15  passed a rezoning in Mott Creek yesterday, in some

         16  cases if this is allowed to happen, it entire

         17  defeats the whole purpose of the rezoning.

         18                 Now, the issue of moratorium has come

         19  up for several mayoral administrations. I remember

         20  when I worked in the Koch Administration, it came up

         21  during that time.

         22                 And there's always been a lot of

         23  legal opinions saying you cannot take away the

         24  rights of a property owner until the legislative

         25  body or the appropriate body has voted to make the
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          2  change.

          3                 Well, that's the reason for this

          4  bill. This bill is a compromise. In effect, it says

          5  the moratorium goes into effect after the first

          6  legal body has voted. That's City Planning. The

          7  second legal body being the City Council.

          8                 So, in my opinion, and I hope in the

          9  opinion of others, this addresses that legal issue,

         10  but we must do something to protect our

         11  neighborhoods. And there's a second aspect of this

         12  which has come up, since we've been doing these

         13  rezonings.

         14                 Irrespective of the unscrupulous

         15  developers, we have been finding that unfortunately,

         16  and inadvertently, we have been catching the

         17  individual homeowner in the process of doing let's

         18  say a simple alteration on their house, who may be

         19  unaware that the zoning is going into effect,

         20  certainly unaware what the zoning, the rezoning may

         21  have on their alteration.

         22                 Because, unfortunately, the

         23  Department of Buildings will issue permits for any

         24  alteration or new development, up until the day

         25  before the new zoning goes into effect. And this has
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          2  created a huge problem, even for individual

          3  homeowners.

          4                 Setting this moratorium would

          5  eliminate that problem, because the Department of

          6  Buildings would then have to say after City Planning

          7  has voted, no, this area is about to be rezoned,

          8  we're going to stop this, and you've got to cut off

          9  that nonsense and protect the average homeowner as

         10  well.

         11                 So, I'm hopeful, Madam Chair, I

         12  appreciate your support of this bill. We have 20

         13  sponsors in the Council already, and if I may, just

         14  to take one more moment of time, because I always

         15  think it's helpful to read the list of community

         16  boards and community groups that have signed on,

         17  this is only a partial list, because I know we have

         18  more speakers here today. Let me just take two

         19  minutes to mention some of these groups. And by the

         20  way, this bill was introduced in June, and I

         21  appreciate the speedy response that you're giving

         22  it.

         23                 The Kew Gardens Hills Civic

         24  Association in Queens, Queens Colony Civic

         25  Association, the Olinvillo Taxpayers and Civic
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          2  Association in the Bronx, the Rocky Hill Civic

          3  Association in Queens, the West Cunningham Park

          4  Civic Association in Queens, Waldheim Neighborhood

          5  Association in Queens, Kissena Park Civic

          6  Association in Queens, Bays Water Civic Association

          7  in Queens, the Donnegan Hills United Civic

          8  Association in Staten Island, Queens Village Civic

          9  Association, obviously in Queens, Briarwood

         10  Community Association in Queens, Holliswood Civic

         11  Association in Queens, Queens Community Board 7,

         12  Queens Broadway Flushing Homeowners Association,

         13  Brooklyn, Brighton Neighborhood Association, the

         14  Surier States Homeowners Association in Queens

         15  (phonetic), Beach House Bungalo Preservation

         16  Association in Queens, Community Board 17 in

         17  Brooklyn, Community Board 14 in Queens. And that's

         18  all, the partial list that we have, and I'm sure

         19  there are going to be more as we get on today.

         20                 But once again, thank you, Madam

         21  Chair.

         22                 And I look forward to hopefully

         23  having some good discussions from coming out of this

         24  hearing, and certainly with the Administration. This

         25  is something that is really needed, and given the
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          2  fact that we all agree that the rezonings are

          3  important, we need to do this to protect the very

          4  essence of the rezonings.

          5                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you,

          7  Tony.

          8                 I rarely -- I always try to stay

          9  objective on legislation that comes before my

         10  Committee until it's voted on. But I have to say

         11  when Tony spoke to me about this piece of

         12  legislation, I jumped on it.

         13                 There are several of us in the

         14  Council who have problems with over-development in

         15  our districts and we've been involved in rezoning.

         16  My area we've done rezoning for practically my whole

         17  Council district, thanks to City Planning, who has

         18  been absolutely fantastic.

         19                 And I agree with Tony, you know, the

         20  bill may need -- we've spoken to people -- the bill

         21  may need some tweaking here and there, but I think

         22  that can be done, but I think this is a serious and

         23  a necessary piece of legislation.

         24                 Having said that, we will -- we're

         25  joined by Council Member Leroy Comrie, and I did see

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  Melinda Katz.

          3                 Phyllis Arnold, from the Department

          4  of Buildings. She's I believe Counsel to the

          5  Department of Buildings. Yes.

          6                 Welcome.

          7                 MS. ARNOLD: Thank you. Good morning,

          8  Madam Chair, and members of the Committee. I'm

          9  Phyllis Arnold, I'm General Counsel of the New York

         10  City Department of Buildings.

         11                 If I may, Madam Chair, just ask some

         12  direction on what order you might like to hear my

         13  testimony? Or does it matter?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay. Well, I

         15  understand you're going to testify on all three?

         16                 MS. ARNOLD: I am.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: So, you know,

         18  we don't want to keep you here forever, so...

         19                 MS. ARNOLD: In that case then, I will

         20  begin my testimony with respect to Intro. 644, the

         21  Sprinkler Bill, move to 651, Council Member

         22  Vallone's bill, and then I will ask David Karnovsky

         23  to join me for 679, with your permission?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Yes.

         25                 MS. ARNOLD: First, with respect to
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          2  Intro. 644. It's certainly a well-intentioned bill

          3  that aims to prevent student deaths by fire in

          4  dormitories.

          5                 It proposes a standard of one or more

          6  sprinkler heads per dwelling or room or unit

          7  occupied as student housing.

          8                 According to Campus Fire Watch, a

          9  monthly newsletter focusing on fire safety issues at

         10  colleges and universities, over the last three

         11  years, 52 students died nationwide from fire in

         12  dormitory, Greek and off-campus residences.

         13                 Indeed, careless smoking, unattended

         14  candles and cooking, as well as overloaded extension

         15  cords and power outlets can cause fires when

         16  students are living in dorm-type dwelling units, and

         17  some students may even disable smoke and carbon

         18  monoxide detectors so that they may smoke in their

         19  rooms.

         20                 The Department with the

         21  Administration shares the goal of providing students

         22  with a safe living space. There's no question that

         23  sprinkler systems would add a degree of safety.

         24                 However, sprinklers are already

         25  required by current law for many of the types of

                                                            18

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  multiple dwellings that might function as student

          3  housing, for example, the Building Code currently

          4  requires sprinklers in J 2 occupancy buildings.

          5  Those are multiple dwellings that are not hotels,

          6  and those include student dormitories, and those are

          7  required in those J 2 buildings with four or more

          8  dwelling units.

          9                 Intro. 644's added requirement thus

         10  would extend the coverage to the J 2 buildings with

         11  fewer than four dwelling units and to J 3 buildings

         12  which are one- and two-family houses to the extent

         13  they function as student housing.

         14                 Frankly, we would expect a very high

         15  rate of compliance from owners of one- and

         16  two-families that may rent a room to a student one

         17  year and not the next, and we believe that's an

         18  issue we're going to need to discuss to the extent

         19  the bill is going to move forward.

         20                 Beyond that, the retroactivity

         21  provisions may prove too short. Obviously, this is a

         22  matter better addressed by industry and we would

         23  expect to help facilitate that dialogue if we can.

         24                 Third, the definition of student

         25  housing in the bill is a little problematic in that

                                                            19

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  it's inconsistent with other definitions of

          3  dormitory contained in the Housing Maintenance Code

          4  and in the Department's recently promulgated rule on

          5  zoning dormitories.

          6                 Not that every definition has to be

          7  consistent, but I think it's really a question for

          8  the Council to consider as it gives shape to the

          9  scope of coverage you're contemplating.

         10                 And, finally, by attempting to

         11  capture the referral of students, the bill poses

         12  significant enforcement issues for us. I think we

         13  all recognize with a wink and a nodd students can

         14  easily be directed to any number of off-campus or

         15  boarding rooms not in compliance with the law.

         16  Enforcement efforts would predictably be met by

         17  claims from both the referring institution and the

         18  building owner that they didn't know the renter was

         19  a student, and I think it's realistic to consider

         20  the kind of difficulty we would have making that

         21  provision meaningful in practice.

         22                 We share the goal of enhancing the

         23  safety of student housing. We suggest that this bill

         24  be studied by the many technical experts who are now

         25  working on the Building Code. They're in a good
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          2  position to examine, to develop and to coordinate

          3  the details of any proposal to require sprinkle

          4  systems in student housing.

          5                 Madam Chair, I can take questions on

          6  this now, or if you want I can zip through and take

          7  them on all three bills at the same time?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: No, it's

          9  probably best if you just continue, and folks that

         10  are interested in whatever item will kind of keep it

         11  straight by the way we're going.

         12                 MS. ARNOLD: Thank you.

         13                 So, I'll turn to 651, the bill that

         14  relates to the issuance of violations of the

         15  Department, to properties that may contain dwelling

         16  units that were illegally converted. This is Council

         17  Member Vallone's bill.

         18                 The bill authorizes the Department

         19  inspectors to write illegal conversion violations

         20  based on circumstantial evidence.

         21                 We endorse the Council's attempt to

         22  improve enforcement against illegal conversions. But

         23  we believe Intro. 651 may need an adjustment in

         24  order to achieve its goals.

         25                 First, many of the common signs of
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          2  illegal conversions that are mentioned in the bill

          3  have already been driven underground. By and large,

          4  multiple mailboxes and doorbells have been moved

          5  inside or are now concealed.

          6                 The same is largely the case for

          7  utility meetings. As the Council may know, these are

          8  the indicia the Department has used in effort to

          9  secure access, and because of that, many people have

         10  caught on already.

         11                 In the most egregious cases of

         12  illegal conversion, nothing more than a number of

         13  illegal partitions inside may exist and we can't see

         14  that from the outside.

         15                 Thus, we fear that culling out in the

         16  bill these particular sources of circumstantial

         17  evidence may not only be unnecessary, but it may

         18  induce people who haven't already caught on to

         19  otherwise hide these indicia of illegal occupancy

         20  before we get there.

         21                 Second, it's not clear how a

         22  violation written under this provision would fare

         23  when met at ECB, for example, with the denial by the

         24  respondent owner.

         25                 While we would certainly argue that a
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          2  respondent's inability to adequately explain away

          3  the circumstantial evidence of an illegal conversion

          4  could result in our whim, our inspector's failure to

          5  have observed the underlying condition may prove

          6  fatal.

          7                 Again, a point to consider as you

          8  move forward. Finally, the provision requiring an

          9  inspection before a violation written under this

         10  section can be cleared, raises constitutional issues

         11  and it certainly raises operational issues for our

         12  agency and for the Environmental Control Board.

         13                 We would be happy to meet with staff

         14  to discuss these issues in more detail and we look

         15  forward to an opportunity to do so.

         16                 With your permission, David Karnovsky

         17  will join me now with respect to Intro. 679, the

         18  moratorium bill so that he can answer your

         19  questions.

         20                 We understand the Intro. 679 is

         21  intended to ensure that the Land Use policy

         22  initiated during the final stage of the Land Use

         23  process while rezoning has been approved by the City

         24  Planning Commission is pending before the City

         25  Council, the bill does, however, present several
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          2  issues that, again, I think we'd need to be

          3  considered.

          4                 First, while the bill proposes only a

          5  short suspension on the issue of building permits

          6  limited to the period of Council review that under

          7  the Charter can't exceed 65 days, it would

          8  nevertheless suspend operation of the zoning

          9  resolution for that period, and could, for that

         10  reason, be characterized as a moratorium.

         11                 Courts have established that since a

         12  moratorium is a form of stop-gap zoning, it has to

         13  be enacted pursuant to the process used by the

         14  locality to amend its zoning resolution.

         15                 So, a threshold question is whether

         16  what the bill proposes can be accomplished by local

         17  law, or whether it requires an amendment to the

         18  zoning resolution under the procedures set forth in

         19  197-C and D of the Charter.

         20                 Second, the bill may be overbroad in

         21  that it covers all rezoning actions. Although, the

         22  problem the bill seeks to address is that of trying

         23  to discourage developers from racing to vest in

         24  order to avoid the effects of a downzoning, the bill

         25  as drawn would cover any rezoning action whatsoever.
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          2                 Assume, for example, a situation

          3  where City Planning has approved an upzoning of an

          4  area, under those circumstances it's not clear why

          5  the issuance of permits for developments that comply

          6  with current law should be suspended during the

          7  period of Council review.

          8                 Under the case law governing

          9  moratoria, courts will scrutinize the scope of the

         10  moratorium to determine whether it's carefully

         11  tailored to the problem it seeks to address or is

         12  overbroad.

         13                 Third, even assuming the bill only

         14  applied to this limited type of rezoning, it would

         15  never the less preclude issuance of all permits

         16  during the period of Council review, including

         17  permits for developments that in flat comply with

         18  the new zoning, and that seems peculiar to us.

         19                 The need to tailor the bill, both in

         20  terms of the type of rezoning it would cover, and

         21  the types of permits that could or couldn't be

         22  issued during Council review, in turn creates

         23  difficulties for the Department of Buildings.

         24                 In a nutshell, however, we would need

         25  to gear up to administer and enforce an interim set
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          2  of provisions for a period that might last for only

          3  50 days. And in the event that the Council

          4  ultimately voted down the proposal adopted by the

          5  Commission or approved it with significant

          6  modifications, buildings would then have to switch

          7  gears again and administer and enforce a different

          8  set of provisions. This could conceivably pose some

          9  significant administrative difficulties for us and

         10  some confusion for the community of neighborhood

         11  residents and developers.

         12                 Again, we will be happy to take your

         13  questions on this bill and on two others.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay. Do we

         15  have anybody new here? No.

         16                 Council Member Vallone.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

         18  Madam Chair.

         19                 Thank you, Ms. Arnold, for your

         20  testimony today. I know we've worked closely

         21  together in the past on issues such as cell phone

         22  towers and it's been a pleasure to work with you. I

         23  look forward to continue to work on these issues

         24  also, because you had some good suggestions.

         25                 I'm not sure if you were here when I
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          2  spoke before so I want to just briefly repeat the

          3  purpose of this bill.

          4                 Yes, obviously, we're attempting to

          5  address the problem of illegal conversions here.

          6  These conversions are a danger to the occupants,

          7  they're a danger to our first responders, which

          8  we've seen recently. And they're just bad for our

          9  communities, which are not built to handle the

         10  amount of people they're not zoned for.

         11                 This bill will allow inspectors for

         12  the first time to give violations based on evidence

         13  they can see from the outside.

         14                 I understand that this may be a

         15  drastic solution, but we need drastic measures at

         16  this point.

         17                 Your first concern is a good one, and

         18  it's one I have also, about the fact that many of

         19  this indicia, the circumstantial evidence has been

         20  driven underground, because landlords are wising up

         21  to the fact that, you know, the fact that they do

         22  not have to let you in, and they're hiding the

         23  evidence that would make them guilty of a crime.

         24                 How do you recommend that we deal

         25  with that?
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          2                 MS. ARNOLD: They way you proposed in

          3  the bill I think is an interesting concept. It

          4  essentially creates a rebuttable presumption,

          5  evidentiary presumption, the tribunal hearing the

          6  violation.

          7                 So, I don't mean my testimony to

          8  suggest that you should abandon the effort. I think

          9  it's something we can work with you and try to

         10  tailor.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I didn't mean

         12  to suggest that for a moment. I appreciate your

         13  input and I'm actually looking for some help here

         14  and I'll be working with you down the road.

         15                 For example, you suggest that calling

         16  out in this bill the circumstances of the particular

         17  sources of evidence may not only been necessary but

         18  it might encourage them to hide this. So, you would

         19  recommend, therefore, that we not actually specify

         20  the types of circumstantial evidence in the bill.

         21                 MS. ARNOLD: I think that's one

         22  option. And we may want to talk further about

         23  casting the bill in terms of in evidentiary terms as

         24  a rebuttable presumption that can be addressed by

         25  the tribunal hearing, the violation.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: That's

          3  something else we wrestled with.

          4                 Now, do you believe that it should be

          5  a rebuttable presumption that can be rebutted

          6  without actually allowing a further inspection? Or

          7  do you believe that a further inspection should be a

          8  necessity to rebut this?

          9                 MS. ARNOLD: This is tricky.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Yes, it is.

         11                 MS. ARNOLD: This Fourth Amendment is

         12  a tricky Fourth Amendment issue. And I think this is

         13  an issue we would need to look at together in

         14  conjunction with Law Department to kind of work our

         15  way through the circumstances under which

         16  administrative agencies are permitted to enter over

         17  objections, in order to make inspections.

         18                 There are limited circumstances. We

         19  use them and certainly the circumstantial evidence

         20  or the probable cause in case law terms may prove an

         21  adequate basis to compel the inspection. But I think

         22  as that's an issue we would need to talk further

         23  about in ironing out some details.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I'm going to

         25  have my lawyers call your lawyers. And if I only had
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          2  lawyers, I could make that good, but I don't. So,

          3  I'll have Buildings Committee lawyers hopefully call

          4  your lawyers and work that issue out.

          5                 Because your second two concerns

          6  obviously deal with that. You said the failure to

          7  observe the underlying condition may be fatal, and I

          8  tried to solve that by requiring an inspection in

          9  order to defeat that problem, but then your third

         10  concern is the fact that we are requiring an

         11  inspection.

         12                 And these are issues we did wrestle

         13  with and will continue to. I know there are other

         14  bills that are on today, so I'm going to be brief

         15  and maybe come back if something else pops into my

         16  head.

         17                 But I would like to mention regarding

         18  Tony Avella's bill, my colleague, both of them seem

         19  -- and let me commend you on those, and once these

         20  bills, assuming these bills will be tailored by some

         21  work with the Administration and with Chairwoman

         22  Provenzano, I will be signing onto both bills, and I

         23  commend you for your work on those.

         24                 Thank you for your work, Madam Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Tony.

                                                            30

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thanks.

          3                 I guess let's talk about the sprinkle

          4  bill first. I appreciate your comments and I sense a

          5  willingness to sort of work out some of the details

          6  here. I actually am advised by my counsel and

          7  Council staff, Committee staff, that there have been

          8  two fires in the City of New York in campus housing

          9  in the Year 2000, one of which resulted in a

         10  fatality.

         11                 So there has been examples in New

         12  York City. I think the issues that you brought up

         13  are some that we've already discovered. There are

         14  some technical issues in the bill. And I look

         15  forward to sitting down with you and Council staff

         16  and Committee staff to go over them.

         17                 The only caveat I have to that is,

         18  and let me go back, you did mention about the fact

         19  this should be reviewed by the technical people

         20  involved in the Building Code revision, which is

         21  appropriate. I would just urge that we do this

         22  quickly. I mean, the Building Code Revision is

         23  taking years, and appropriately so. I think this is

         24  something that can be pulled out of the process and

         25  looked at rather quickly. Again, I mean we're
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          2  talking about safety here, and I think it is not

          3  something that would need to take years. I think it

          4  is something that if we all sat down and did we

          5  could come up with a resolution to these technical

          6  issues rather quickly.

          7                 In reference to 679, you know, when I

          8  suggested this, obviously, I knew it was going to

          9  have, you know, concerns. And I hear what you've

         10  said, but I have to bring up, and I don't know if

         11  you're aware of this, there has been a Supreme Court

         12  decision, Tahoe Sierra Preservation Council versus

         13  Tahoe Regional Planning Agency, which if my counsel

         14  is correct, has basically said you don't have to

         15  have a ULURP process to do a moratorium and you can

         16  just do it.

         17                 Obviously, legal minds are going to

         18  differ, but it always, it seems to be my impression,

         19  having worked for two Mayors, having been involved

         20  in the political process and the community process,

         21  that the real argument here has always been if we do

         22  that the City is going to get sued.

         23                 So what? I mean, really. At some

         24  point you have to look at the situation and say

         25  what's more important, not having a lawsuit or
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          2  protecting the community and the citizens that we're

          3  supposed to be protecting?

          4                 And in that respect you know which

          5  side I come down on. I come down on protecting our

          6  citizens, protecting our neighborhoods, and if we

          7  incur a few lawsuits, you know something? We're

          8  doing our due diligence, we're responding to the

          9  needs of the community, and we may have to eat those

         10  lawsuits and fight them.

         11                 In the end, we have a responsibility

         12  as elected officials. We do in this Council, and so

         13  does the Administration. But I'm curious to get your

         14  opinion about the Supreme Court Decision.

         15                 MR. KARNOVSKY: First of all, let me

         16  indicate, as you stated, at City Planning --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Please state

         18  your name for the record.

         19                 MR. KARNOVSKY: I'm sorry. I'm David

         20  Karnovsky, Counsel to the Department of City

         21  Planning.

         22                 As you indicated, we work very

         23  closely with you and other Council members to

         24  address the mismatch between existing zoning and

         25  neighborhood character and have advanced a series of
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          2  downzonings to do that, and we will continue to do

          3  so. We've done it I think in a way which has been

          4  sensitive to timing issues most recently in

          5  connection with the Mott Creek rezoning. As you

          6  know, we advanced that to the City Council as

          7  quickly as possible.

          8                 So, we understand and appreciate the

          9  issue which underlies the bill.

         10                 With respect to the legal issue,

         11  Tahoe addresses an entirely different question from

         12  the one that's raised in Phyllis's testimony which

         13  was prepared with our assistance.

         14                 Tahoe addressed the issue of whether

         15  or not a moratorium was a taking under the Fifth

         16  Amendment of the United States Constitution, and it

         17  concluded that it is not per se a taking.

         18                 We don't disagree with that at all.

         19  In fact, there have been moratoria enacted in many

         20  localities in New York State, which have been

         21  upheld. Some have not been upheld, some have been

         22  upheld. It is a recognized land use tool that is

         23  used in certain circumstances. So that is not the

         24  issue. We take no issue with the United States

         25  Supreme Court.
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          2                 The question that is raised in the

          3  testimony is a different question about procedure,

          4  and the question is whether or not what this bill

          5  proposes to do can be enacted by local law, or is

          6  itself a form of zoning, and the reason that's an

          7  issue is because the New York courts have

          8  characterized moratoria as a form of stop gap zoning

          9  which must be enacted in accordance with the

         10  procedure the locality follows for the enactment of

         11  the zoning amendments. And so the issue we raise is

         12  the following: We understand that this bill is

         13  different from other bills which have been proposed

         14  in the past.

         15                 It is quite narrowly tailored. It is

         16  actually quite well tailored to address a specific

         17  circumstance where the City Planning Commission has

         18  adopted the zoning and the matter is pending before

         19  the City Council for 50 days statutorily or as much

         20  as 65, if you have a modification.

         21                 Nonetheless, the effect of the bill

         22  is to suspend the operation of the zoning resolution

         23  for that period of time. And the question,

         24  therefore, under New York Law, is whether or not

         25  because of that effect it is something which can be
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          2  done by local law or as a zoning change.

          3                 There are other localities, which

          4  have tried to do this through local law, through the

          5  provisions governing the issuance of building

          6  permits and have been struck down, and that's the

          7  issue we're trying to address here. This is an

          8  important question, therefore, adopting any measure

          9  like this I think we have to give very careful

         10  consideration to how it's done. So, this is a

         11  procedural issue we're raising. We're not raising

         12  issues about the legality of moratoria rit large.

         13  That issue has been addressed by other courts,

         14  including United States Supreme Court.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Do I take it

         16  then that you're in agreement with the general

         17  principle that something needs to be done? Or is

         18  that going too far?

         19                 MR. KARNOVSKY: Let me just say I

         20  think that we have done a lot. I can't say that this

         21  specific issue has been raised with the Commission.

         22  I can't speak for the Commission on this. When I say

         23  a lot, I say the downzonings, vigilance in terms of

         24  timing, the vigilance of the Department of Buildings

         25  and looking at permits as they're issued during that
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          2  time period that you're concerned with, and the

          3  vigilance of the Department of Buildings working

          4  with us, looking at whether people have vested.

          5                 Whether or not this specific type of

          6  provision is necessary is something that would have

          7  to be considered by the Commission, and it hasn't

          8  been.

          9                 So, we recognize, however, the

         10  importance of the issue, which is that if the City

         11  has determined as a matter of Land Use policy that

         12  it wants to downzone, the downzoning should not be

         13  undermined during the period in which it's receiving

         14  final consideration. It's an important concern, we

         15  understand that very much.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: One other

         17  comment I had, you mentioned in the testimony that

         18  it would stop all building permits.

         19                 It was not the intention when we

         20  wrote this bill that any permit that would in effect

         21  be applicable under the new zoning be stopped. It's

         22  to stop the permits in effect that wouldn't be

         23  applicable under the new zoning.

         24                 So, I mean there's some room here to

         25  tailor this bill even further. And I think, at least
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          2  from my perspective, I don't know how my colleagues

          3  feel about it, but also we're talking about the

          4  large rezonings. We're not talking about very small

          5  projects, and that concern has been expressed, and

          6  that may be something as well we can, you know, fine

          7  tailor. It's the situations where, which is unique

          8  situation because no other administration, no other

          9  Council has done this, in terms of rezoning

         10  neighborhoods in such a large context.

         11                 It's a new phenomenon. It's something

         12  that we all agree needed to be done, and I certainly

         13  echo the comments of my colleague Council Member

         14  Vallone and Madeline Provenzano, that we appreciate

         15  the Administration and City Planning for doing these

         16  things, and for expediting the time frame, and

         17  clearly we've reduced the ULURP clock from six to

         18  seven months to three to four, which is an

         19  accomplishment. But we really need to do something

         20  on this end, and I would certainly ask, as I did

         21  with the sprinkler bill, that we sit down and try

         22  and move ahead expeditiously.

         23                 MR. KARNOVSKY: We'd be glad to sit

         24  with you and your counsel to discuss further.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.
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          2                 You know, again, I don't want

          3  anything being misinterpreted as far as City

          4  Planning goes. I think you've done a phenomenal job,

          5  and I think we all agree. I can speak for my

          6  district, and speaking to some of my colleagues, I

          7  know on Staten Island and Queens, it's amazing how

          8  quickly you have moved on the rezoning. So, I never

          9  feel that I commend you and Commissioner Burden

         10  enough on that.

         11                 Council Member Comrie, you had

         12  questions? All right.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I didn't

         14  really have a question. I just wanted to commend

         15  Council Members Vallone and Avella on the bills. The

         16  questions they asked were pretty much what I had.

         17  And since there is obviously an intent from

         18  Buildings Department and City Zoning to try and work

         19  these bills out. I do get that sense. I just wanted

         20  to reemphasize that my community also is desperately

         21  trying to get some protection against illegal

         22  conversions, and the people that are trying to put

         23  through applications while now zoning is in the

         24  process of happening, right now are in the process

         25  of downzone and rezone about 500 blocks in the
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          2  Hollis and St. Albans area to protect

          3  overdevelopment, people that are tearing down

          4  buildings and trying to build three-family homes

          5  where one-family homes exist.

          6                 So, I would only say that I hope that

          7  we can get this done sooner rather than later and

          8  that the cooperation that you seem to express today

          9  is put into real action quickly, because our

         10  communities are desperate for it. And I just

         11  appreciate you being here this morning, and I want

         12  to add my name to the bill. If my name is not added

         13  to it so far, which is 644.

         14                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And 651. I

         17  don't know why it's not on there.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I also want

         19  to take this opportunity, I don't want Purnima to

         20  think I forgot her. She's my Bronx City Planning

         21  person.

         22                 We have Council Member James who has

         23  a question.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         25                 Let me begin with 644. According to a
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          2  report that was prepared by the staff of the City

          3  Council, it indicates according to the Non-profit

          4  Center for Campus for Fire Safety, as of September

          5  1st, 2005, 75 people had been killed in student

          6  housing fires both on and off campuses since January

          7  2000, with over 75 percent of them occurring in

          8  campus housing.

          9                 Some common factors include a lack of

         10  fire sprinklers, missing or disabled smoke alarms,

         11  careless disposal of smoking materials and alcohol

         12  consumption."

         13                 In my district, which is Fort Green,

         14  Clinton Hill, Prospect Heights and Crown Heights,

         15  I'm proud to represent four institutions of high

         16  learning, New York City Tech, St. Joseph's, Pratt,

         17  Medgar Evers College, and I'm very much concerned

         18  about this issue.

         19                 I can recall back in the early

         20  seventies there was a major fire on a Pratt campus.

         21  It did not result in any fatalities, but

         22  nonetheless, residents in the community were very

         23  much concerned with respect to the fact that that

         24  building did not have any sprinklers. And though I

         25  recognize that your counsel will be calling
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          2  Councilman Vallone's counsel, and having a meeting,

          3  I would really hope that we can come to some sort of

          4  compromise, and I applaud Councilman Vallone for --

          5  oh, excuse me -- both colleagues, because he will be

          6  on it, as well, Councilman Avella, for putting this

          7  piece of legislation forward.

          8                 With respect to 651, is that

          9  Councilman Vallone? Okay. Good men think alike and

         10  women, okay? The fatality that you speak of, the

         11  fact that there's a -- it creates a presumption, a

         12  rebuttable presumption which can be overcome by

         13  evidence, doesn't that cure the defect in the bill?

         14  Or is it your position that you actually have to

         15  observe the condition, and are there any other ECB

         16  violations or situations where an inspector can

         17  issue violations in the absence of actual

         18  observation?

         19                 MS. ARNOLD: If I can take your second

         20  question first?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Sure.

         22                 MS. ARNOLD: We do issue violations

         23  based on record evidence.

         24                 For example, if Department records or

         25  memoranda suggest, you know, give a basis for an
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          2  inspector to say a condition exists, then we have

          3  taken our prosecutions in that direction at ECB.

          4                 Your first question I think is, it's

          5  an interesting question, and I don't know the

          6  answer. I simply raised the issue. Years ago when

          7  ECB was first getting up and running, or actually it

          8  wasn't an ECB truck, you know, it was a PVB, Parking

          9  Violations Bureau, and a case that came out, this is

         10  going back to the eighties, where an officer wrote a

         11  violation, was challenged by a respondent, and the

         12  officer wasn't present to rebut. And the court held

         13  that the prima facie case reflected in the ticket

         14  was sufficiently rebutted by the denial that the

         15  respondent offered such that the City lost.

         16                 I don't know if that kind of approach

         17  is going to obtain in these cases. It may be that a

         18  respondent walks in and says, no, I don't have an

         19  illegally converted two-bedroom, you know,

         20  two-family house. I have multiple mailboxes because.

         21  Or I have -- we have a lot of garbage. There are 30

         22  people in my family, another interesting twist to

         23  the illegal conversion problem, you know, it doesn't

         24  prevent, and God forbid we should start to regulate

         25  the size of people's families. So, I don't know how
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          2  it's going to play out.

          3                 We have, you know, given the kinds of

          4  indicia we may be able to articulate, it may be that

          5  a respondent's denial, notwithstanding the failure

          6  to explain that stuff away is just not -- is so

          7  persuasive that we win. That's what we would argue.

          8  So, I think it's worth a try.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And lastly,

         10  699. I think, as most of you know in this room, no

         11  one has spoken out on over-development other than

         12  myself. As you know, I'm facing one of the biggest

         13  projects in Brooklyn in over 40 years, which does

         14  not involve the ULURP process, which, in fact,

         15  overrides all local law and all elected officials

         16  and the local community, and in fact is ceding

         17  development to a major developer.

         18                 And, so, I obviously have serious

         19  concerns when I am relegated to the sidelines and I

         20  have a serious problem with City Planning and City

         21  Planning being relegated to developers, as opposed

         22  to a community and elected officials who represent

         23  that community.

         24                 That notwithstanding, a 197-A plan

         25  was filed with City Planning and I have yet to have
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          2  that plan certified. So, notwithstanding the

          3  experiences of all of my colleagues who are present,

          4  my experience with City Planning is -- leaves a lot

          5  to be desired.

          6                 Fort Green is facing all of this

          7  development, and the community has written, has

          8  called, has cajoled, has harassed City Planning to

          9  expedite this downzoning.

         10                 There has been a rush to the gold in

         11  Fort Green and Clinton Hill with all of this

         12  development, putting in jeopardy developers, putting

         13  in jeopardy my constituents and putting in jeopardy

         14  the City at large.

         15                 In addition, Bedford Stuyvesant has a

         16  197-A plan that's, I believe that has been

         17  certified, and though I only represent part of

         18  Bedford Stuyvesant, and most of Bedford Stuyvesant

         19  is representing by Al Vann, that, too, has been on a

         20  slow pace.

         21                 So, I signed onto this legislation

         22  because I am seeing it firsthand. There is a major

         23  development project going on and literally on every

         24  other block in my district, and it is causing great

         25  displacement, it is causing landlords to opt out of
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          2  Mitchell-Lama Programs, it is causing a shift in the

          3  demographics in my district, and we are crying out

          4  for help, but to no avail.

          5                 And, so, I proudly, proudly, proudly

          6  sign onto this piece of legislation, and would hope

          7  that we could move it forward, and hope that we

          8  could resolve some of the procedural problems that

          9  you raise. And I would hope that we could come to

         10  some compromise so we could stop this rush to the

         11  gold, and that we could expedite all of these 197-A

         12  plans specifically in Fort Green, Clinton Hill,

         13  Prospect Heights and hopefully soon in Crown

         14  Heights.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         17                 Do we have any other questions?

         18                 Okay. Thank you both very much.

         19                 I'm going to call folks up in kind of

         20  panels, so... Domenick Kass, Tony Saporito, Melissa

         21  Barbour.

         22                 Okay, any one of you starts first.

         23  Just choose.

         24                 MR. KASS: My name is Dominick Kass,

         25  National Fire Sprinkler Association, Northeast
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          2  Regional Manager. Obviously, we're in support of

          3  this bill. But more of my, on the personal side, I

          4  have a 31-year fire service record, and I'd like to

          5  commend Councilman Avella for bringing this forward,

          6  and he brought out some very good points that this

          7  can be worked in with the New York City Building and

          8  Fire Code when the time is ready, but I think moving

          9  this on the fast track is definitely the right idea.

         10                 In my testimony, the written

         11  testimony, there's several attachments, but of

         12  importance is attachment number three, which is a

         13  federal bill, HR 1131, with a sister bill SB 512.

         14  It's the Fire Sprinkler Incentive Act. Of course,

         15  the cost of these systems come up into question any

         16  time fire sprinklers is brought out. And HR 1131 and

         17  SB 512, I would recommend, would plead New York City

         18  to send the resolution off to the New York

         19  Legislators in support of this bill. It addresses

         20  the IRS Tax Code and brings the mechanical side of

         21  the fire sprinkler systems into a five-year

         22  depreciation rather than a 27- or a 39-year

         23  depreciation, which it's presently under.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 MS. BARBOUR: Hi. Good morning. My
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          2  name is Melissa Barbour. I'm the Executive Director

          3  of the New York Fire Sprinkler Contractors

          4  Association.

          5                 Rather than repeat statistics that

          6  have already been said, I'd just like to say, we're

          7  lucky that the contracting industry be part of --

          8  you know, our product saves lives, and some of our

          9  contractors are some of the most passionate people

         10  you will meet.

         11                 We have engineers, contractors,

         12  manufacturers, suppliers, and many of them have

         13  already worked to retrofit existing universities and

         14  dormitories around the City, Fordham University

         15  being one good example. So we ask that, and let you

         16  know that we make ourselves available, and we know

         17  that costs comes into consideration, and whatever we

         18  can do as an industry to help support this bill into

         19  law, we would like to be able to do so. Thank you.

         20                 MR. SAPORITO: Good morning. I'm Tony

         21  Saporito from the Mechanical Contractors Association

         22  of New York, and we represent mechanical and

         23  sprinkler contractors in New York and Long Island,

         24  and we're here in support of Intro. 644, and as any

         25  parent of a college student knows, there are enough
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          2  things to worry about when we send our children off

          3  to school without the added anxiety of whether or

          4  not they will live in safe housing.

          5                 Intro. 644 we believe is a step in

          6  the right direction, to help ensure that no family

          7  has to endure heartache as a result of a preventable

          8  hazard.

          9                 Our association is ready to work with

         10  the Committee to help enact reasonable and necessary

         11  legislation that will provide college students with

         12  the safety that everyone deserves.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         15  We've been joined by Council Member Lew Fidler.

         16                 Do we have any questions.

         17                 Thank you all very much.

         18                 Frank Ricci. He's not a panel. He's

         19  there all by himself.

         20                 MR. RICCI: I'm sort of used to that

         21  over the years in front of this Committee.

         22                 Thank you, Madam Chair, members of

         23  the Committee, non-members of the Committee.

         24                 My name is Frank Ricci. I'm the

         25  Director of Government Affairs for the Rent
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          2  Stabilization Association. I think as most of you

          3  know, we represent most of the building owners in

          4  New York City, as well -- primarily rent-regulated

          5  buildings, but also many co-ops and condos in the

          6  City.

          7                 My testimony today is limited to just

          8  Intro. 644 and Intro. 651. On Intro. 644, we

          9  certainly have no objection to the intent of the

         10  bill. Our only concern is the same as one of the

         11  concerns raised by the Department of Buildings,

         12  which is Section 2 on the referral section.

         13                 There seems to be certain vagueness

         14  about what a referral is, and the implication it

         15  might have on a building owner, or a unit dweller,

         16  if they were to rent an apartment to someone. And

         17  I've discussed this with Counsel to the Committee. I

         18  think that needs some work, but certainly if that

         19  were clarified in several ways, we would have no

         20  objection to the bill at all.

         21                 On Intro. 651, many of our members

         22  own brownstones, and it's very typical for an owner

         23  of a brownstone to buy a 12-unit building or a

         24  ten-unit building and over time buy in apartments

         25  for family members and things like that. In that
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          2  process they do not necessarily reduce the number of

          3  doorbells on the outside of the building, and I'm

          4  talking about work that's done legally with a change

          5  of a certificate of occupancy. They may not reduce

          6  the number of electric meters. They will just pay

          7  two bills or three bills a month because the cost of

          8  that rewiring is really exorbitant. Especially

          9  getting Con Ed to come and consolidate meters.

         10                 So, I think unintentionally, many of

         11  our small owners, especially in the brownstone

         12  neighborhoods could get caught up in some of these

         13  issues here that are outlined that would be prima

         14  facie cases for the Department of Buildings to issue

         15  a violation, so then it really becomes a nuisance

         16  issue for our members of going to ECB and spending

         17  their time there proving that they are in compliance

         18  with the law.

         19                 Council Member Vallone asked me to

         20  think of some solutions to this that would certainly

         21  remove our opposition, and quite honestly, sitting

         22  here listening today, it seems like most of the

         23  problem are in neighborhoods with, you know, one-,

         24  two-, and three-unit buildings. And, so, the only

         25  solution at this point I could offer is to limit
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          2  this to class 1 buildings and not, you know, have it

          3  apply to class 2 where it's more common to have some

          4  of these indicators there that may or may not be a

          5  problem in the building.

          6                 So, that's my testimony.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          8                 Council Member Vallone.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

         10  Mr. Ricci. We will actually take that into

         11  consideration. But you made your point, I believe

         12  you're saying this bill may be a nuisance for the

         13  one landlord out of a hundred who has eight bells in

         14  a four-family building, that may be a concern. But

         15  my major concern is the loss of our firefighters and

         16  the destruction of our neighborhoods, which is

         17  caused by the other 99 landlords who are illegally

         18  converting their apartments, their homes into

         19  mini-apartment buildings.

         20                 So, I do look forward to working with

         21  you on this, and did come up with a good suggestion.

         22  I do intend to go forward with this, hopefully with

         23  the support of my colleagues and the Chair of this

         24  Committee. And your one proposed amendment would be

         25  to have this limited to class 2, you said buildings?
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          2                 MR. RICCI: Class 1.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: To class 1

          4  buildings. Again, that's an option that we'll look

          5  into and we'll have Terzah and some members of my

          6  staff give you a call, give you a call on that and

          7  see if that accomplishes the goal. And obviously I

          8  will speak to the rest of my colleagues who have

          9  signed onto this bill, see if they would approve of

         10  that.

         11                 Oh, the other thing is, you

         12  mentioned, you know, certain situations where

         13  someone might have more bells, and the Department of

         14  Buildings mentioned more people living in the place

         15  because they had a bigger family. So, we would put

         16  in safeguards for that. The rebuttable presumption

         17  would allow your landlord who has the eight bells to

         18  come in and explain, here's the new certificate of

         19  occupancy for four families, as opposed to eight,

         20  that's why there were eight bells on there. I

         21  understand that's a nuisance, and we don't want to

         22  inconvenience people if we don't have to, but we are

         23  looking at a drastic problem here in the City.

         24                 But we do want to work with you to

         25  limit the nuisances as much as possible. And I thank
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          2  you for coming down here and giving your testimony.

          3                 MR. RICCI: Yes. I don't think it's as

          4  much an isolated incidence as you're referring.

          5                 Brownstone neighborhoods, especially

          6  brownstone Brooklyn, Manhattan, this is the common

          7  practice of what happens. And, you know, I've been

          8  around long enough to realize that this City goes

          9  through cycles, and when I look at a bill like this,

         10  in context with the recent proposal two years ago by

         11  the Mayor to create a super administrative tribunal

         12  to adjudicate all fines from every agency into one

         13  tribunal in the City, and use that as a

         14  revenue-raising mechanism, that really bothers our

         15  members tremendously, because then what happens is,

         16  you get any kind of violation where you have to go

         17  before ECB or any kind of administrative tribunal,

         18  then it becomes a situation like many sanitation

         19  fines where now you just pay the $50, $100, you

         20  can't afford to take half a day off from work and

         21  have it adjourned once or twice waiting, as you

         22  heard Phyllis Arnold talked about, waiting for that

         23  issuing agent to show up at the hearing. And, so,

         24  you wind up paying hundreds of dollars and it

         25  becomes another tax.
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          2                 So, that's a real problem with it and

          3  I'm looking at it in the context of these proposals

          4  that are always floating around in City government.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Again,

          6  thanks. That's what's great about the City Council,

          7  by the way. So many of us have different experiences

          8  in different districts. I don't have brownstones in

          9  my district, so I wasn't aware of that situation,

         10  and it's something that we'll try to take into

         11  account.

         12                 But, again, the nuisance for some I

         13  don't believe outweighs the major benefit for the

         14  entire City that we're trying to solve here.

         15                 Thank you, again.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

         17  Member James.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Hi, Mr. Ricci.

         19  I obviously signed onto this bill and clearly

         20  support it, but as you know, I represent brownstone

         21  Brooklyn, or a part of Brownstone Brooklyn, and you

         22  and I have been discussing the issue with sprinklers

         23  on another related matter. And, so, I appreciate

         24  your concerns and hope that you and Councilman

         25  Vallone can come to sort of compromise, because a
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          2  lot of my brownstone owners do rent to students at

          3  those four colleges that I mentioned.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

          6  Member Comrie.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Just from a

          8  suggestion matter, maybe we could do, when

          9  alteration is done by a brownstone owner, that they

         10  could fill out an affidavit to be submitted,

         11  something like a third party, something like they

         12  did for the verification for whether a homeowner

         13  owned a second home, you know, where Department of

         14  Finance has the possible affidavit for a change of

         15  building, that might forestall any violations that

         16  would be put on a property, and we could write

         17  something like that in.

         18                 MR. RICCI: Councilman, I was talking

         19  about situations where owners legally change the C

         20  of O, they just don't change the base plate on the

         21  doorbells, or combine the electric meters or reduce

         22  the number of mailboxes. So, even there sometimes

         23  Department of Buildings will have, you know, an

         24  accurate C of O with an accurate reflection of how

         25  many units are there. But the guy in the field is
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          2  going to see eight doorbells on a six-unit building

          3  and he's going to write a violation.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So when

          5  they're filing a new C of O, maybe they can file a

          6  second affidavit so when everything hits the

          7  computer, instead of the homeowner coming down, it

          8  could be eliminated and hopefully the systems are

          9  updated by then. I know the Department of Buildings

         10  has been vigorously trying to update their computers

         11  to try to resolve that issue so that the people are

         12  in compliance, because I do find that most of these

         13  laws only affect the people that are trying to be in

         14  compliance, the illegal people seem to find a way to

         15  get around every rule or regulation. You know, the

         16  fact that the Department of Buildings does not have

         17  enough inspectors, they only intend to go out to

         18  where complaints are filed, and even that, my

         19  community is upset because they don't come up as

         20  quickly as possible.

         21                 So, hopefully, you know, when a

         22  person does make a change, and clearly I do know

         23  some brownstone owners in Brooklyn and in Harlem

         24  that are converting and making their apartments

         25  more, less multiple dwelling and more single-family
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          2  type or two-family housing, it used to be, so

          3  possibly they could fill in a second affidavit that

          4  could clear those violations as before they have to

          5  waste time in a half a day coming down for a

          6  hearing.

          7                 MR. RICCI: It's a possibility.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

          9  Member Fidler.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Yes. Really as

         11  tempted as I would be to grill Mr. Ricci, I -- as

         12  Council Member Vallone mentioned, you know, we all

         13  do come here with our own different districts and

         14  experiences. I signed onto this bill as quickly as I

         15  could thinking about class 1 properties, actually,

         16  Council member. In my district, particularly the

         17  Canarsie section of my district, we have one- and

         18  two-family homes where people are illegally

         19  converting their half basements and creating many,

         20  many problems for their neighbors, particularly in

         21  the common drives.

         22                 That was the thrust of this bill for

         23  me, and I am not sure how it impacts on other than

         24  Class 1 properties, and for me, if this bill just

         25  solves the problem with the illegal conversion in
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          2  class 1's, I would be very happy. Because I get more

          3  complaints, building complaints in my district about

          4  illegal conversions of Class 1 properties, than any

          5  other building complaint than I see, and that's the

          6  experience that brought me onto your bill as a

          7  co-sponsor.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Can I just

          9  respond for one second?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:

         12                 I agree with you. In my district

         13  also, I don't believe the building where the

         14  firefighter died recently was the class 1 property,

         15  and it's also a major concern in other districts.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: No, I

         17  understand that, and I'm understanding that issue

         18  only now for the first time, but I'm just -- and I

         19  don't know how we address that. And maybe we don't

         20  exempt them and find another mechanism to make it

         21  work for them, and I'm of course concerned about

         22  firefighters for safety as well. But I'm just

         23  telling you my motivation in going onto this bill

         24  originally was the problem that apparently you know

         25  in your district as well was class 1 properties.

                                                            59

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay? No more

          3  questions.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 Edward Blaine, Susan Siegel, Julian

          6  Alssid.

          7                 We're being joined by Council Member

          8  Gale Brewer. I knew she would show up.

          9                 Whoever wants to start first.

         10                 MR. BLAINE: Good morning, Madam

         11  Chair. I'm Edward Blaine. I'm a resident of -- okay.

         12  Good morning, Madam Chair, members of the Committee.

         13  I'm Edward Blaine, a member of the Beverley Square

         14  West Block Association in Flatbush.

         15                 And first of all, I and my companions

         16  would like to compliment Council Member Vallone on

         17  taking the initiative in dealing with the whole

         18  issue of illegal conversions. We believe that this

         19  is a major issue, not only in Astoria, but all over

         20  the City.

         21                 In fact, we live in the most

         22  ethnically diverse neighborhood in America,

         23  according to US News and World Report, that is Old

         24  Flatbush. And we love living there, but we've found

         25  that there has been a trend of illegal conversions
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          2  in our neighborhood and this is a serious issue and

          3  it impacts on our health and safety.

          4                 During the past few years, a number

          5  of major fires threatened to destroy two historic

          6  homes on my block. A third fire broke out in a

          7  building around the corner this past winter.

          8                 In all cases the houses stood empty

          9  for months before rehabilitation took place. And in

         10  one instance the house remained empty for almost two

         11  years. Its roof destroyed. A terrible eyesore.

         12                 As you know, fires threaten our

         13  health and safety, but in only one of the cases was

         14  there evidence of an illegal conversion of the

         15  property.

         16                 The fires that have taken place in

         17  Beverley Square West, however, are only the tip of

         18  the iceberg. There are other homes in our

         19  neighborhood which have been illegally converted in

         20  violation of the area's zoning, and they are clearly

         21  disasters waiting to happen.

         22                 Of course, after gathering

         23  circumstantial evidence, we dutifully called 3-1-1

         24  to report the violation, and inspectors have

         25  responded to the complaint, and as you might expect
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          2  have been refused access to the property.

          3                 We, therefore, applaud your proposed

          4  bill on illegal conversions. It will really help us

          5  in beginning to meet this challenge.

          6                 The use of circumstantial evidence in

          7  reports is essential for building a case against

          8  owners who have flouted the zoning laws and created

          9  death traps.

         10                 As I understand it, however, the

         11  current law does not require penalties or violations

         12  to be collected until a property has been sold.

         13                 For example, there is a house in our

         14  neighborhood which appears to have been illegally

         15  converted to serve numerous tenants. Until recently,

         16  the house has had an unsafe, uncompleted porch

         17  because in 1989 the owner was cited for construction

         18  without an appropriate building permit.

         19                 The penalty was never collected and

         20  the porch remained uncompleted for over 15 years.

         21                 Although your bill contains

         22  provisions for serving the bills to violators, it

         23  does not seem to require that the bills be paid

         24  within the reasonable time period, including such a

         25  provision would clearly strengthen current
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          2  procedures.

          3                 Julian Alssid, the President of the

          4  South Midwood Residents Association, recently

          5  witnessed a terrible fire in his neighborhood, which

          6  is part of mine.

          7                 It was in a home which had been

          8  illegally converted to a rooming house, with tenants

          9  living in miserable conditions.

         10                 For years neighbors had pressured the

         11  Department of Buildings to take immediate action,

         12  and although they've agreed that action should be

         13  taken, nothing was done to prevent what finally

         14  happened. And I'd like to introduce Julian to

         15  describe what took place this past summer.

         16                 MR. ALSSID: I'm sorry, I turned the

         17  mic off. Thank you --

         18                 MR. BLAINE: By the way -- Pardon me,

         19  Julian.

         20                 By the way, you should have received

         21  this picture in your package. This is a picture of

         22  the incident that he will speak of.

         23                 MR. ALSSID: Great. Thank you very

         24  much. And thank you, Council members, for allowing

         25  me to testify.
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          2                 I do want to speak as well in support

          3  of Intro. 651, and the fire that Ed referenced took

          4  place on August 13th. There was actually quite a bit

          5  of media coverage.

          6                 South Midwood is the community I

          7  represent. It's a community of 500 one- and

          8  two-family homes primarily. And I think it was the

          9  day after the fire, I was on a plane traveling

         10  across the country and feeling some pretty strong

         11  emotions, sort of began to write out a piece that

         12  actually Susan and I are planning to turn into an op

         13  ed, but, you know, I thought I'd sort of deliver

         14  that as testimony.

         15                 So, I few weeks ago I watched with a

         16  mix of horror, sadness and anger, as yet another

         17  illegal rooming house in Flatbush neighborhood

         18  burned down. That brought the town to at least five

         19  such fires this year in our neighborhood alone.

         20                 It was horrible to see the flames

         21  consume the turn of the century two-family home

         22  which had been broken up into several small rooms,

         23  packed with at least 16 residents, including five

         24  children.

         25                 The house was filled with mattresses

                                                            64

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  that accelerated the blaze. And electrical

          3  appliances that firefighters said were the likely

          4  cause of the blaze. And, you know, if you look at

          5  this picture, I mean the fire started just a few

          6  minutes before this condition. I mean, you know,

          7  there are many, many houses like this in our

          8  neighborhood and in the City.

          9                 Luckily there were no deaths, but one

         10  resident was seriously injured and had to be

         11  hospitalized, and two firefighters were taken to the

         12  hospital and treated for injuries as well.

         13                 I was sad to listen to the children

         14  and families who lost everything, standing on the

         15  street corner crying. To think about the burned out

         16  shell that now blighted a beautiful block and

         17  neighborhood. To see the damage caused to the house

         18  next door, the stressed out residents and

         19  neighborhoods who had to deal with the aftermath of

         20  this. You know, and I was angry. This fire could and

         21  should have been avoided.

         22                 For 20 years the South Midwood

         23  Residents Association had been pleading with City

         24  officials to do something about this house.

         25                 In 2003 our Housing Committee chair
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          2  told a top Buildings Department official that this

          3  property has been cited by your agency as a

          4  violation severity high, a tragedy waiting to

          5  happen. I have a paper trail, you know, this is just

          6  one house, but paper trail of documentation.

          7                 And despite this and other repeated

          8  attempts to resolve a clearly dangerous situation,

          9  our pleas fell on deaf ears.

         10                 And actually, the City complained

         11  that it was limited in its ability to issue

         12  violations and that it lacked the infrastructure to

         13  shut down illegal rooming houses.

         14                 Now, while it's true that City law

         15  and limited resources do make it difficult to

         16  identify violators and close illegal SROs, it's also

         17  been clear to date that our elected officials really

         18  have been unwilling to tackle this issue head on.

         19                 And so, sort of what I believe is

         20  really going on here is, while there certainly are

         21  some one- and two-family homeowners in our

         22  neighborhood and throughout New York City who may be

         23  in violation of the Housing Code, the vast majority

         24  are not running illegal rooming houses, which

         25  overtax the infrastructure of their homes and place
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          2  themselves, their tenants or their neighborhoods in

          3  serious risk.

          4                 And it's the subset of homeowners who

          5  are turning their homes into these overcrowded SROs

          6  that pose a grave health and safety hazard for

          7  residents, neighbors and first responders,

          8  especially firefighters.

          9                 It's these individuals who need both

         10  to be cited and have their operations shut down when

         11  they fail to correct illegal conditions.

         12                 And this is, you know, we know it's

         13  complicated by the fact that many residents of these

         14  rooming houses are new to the country and may not

         15  even be aware that they're living in dangerous or

         16  illegal conditions.

         17                 So, when SROs are condemned, we also

         18  have to look to ensure that affordable housing and

         19  social services are addressed.

         20                 Given limited resources, you know, I

         21  believe we need a targeted approach. The Mayor needs

         22  to require the relevant agencies, certainly, you

         23  know, buildings and health and fire and human

         24  resources, to work with community leaders like us,

         25  to identify the illegal rooming houses. And then
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          2  these agencies must act swiftly to condemn these

          3  properties, issue vacate orders, provide needed

          4  social supports and help find appropriate housing

          5  for residents.

          6                 And the Council and Mayor should pass

          7  whatever legislation is needed to enable the above

          8  agencies to carry out these tasks.

          9                 Now, we're very pleased, Council

         10  Member Vallone, that you've introduced this

         11  legislation.

         12                 We think that it's a great first

         13  step, and we really would like to see this proposal

         14  amended to allow the City to condemn illegal rooming

         15  houses, issue and enforce vacate orders, and provide

         16  needed social supports.

         17                 And I must say, I am uplifted to see

         18  that public officials that you are now taking this

         19  on, and you know, and acting before, hopefully

         20  before the next tragedy strikes and lives are lost.

         21                 You know, we're very happy -- I know

         22  I'm not an expert on this, we have folks in my

         23  neighborhood who know all the intricacies of this

         24  issue and we would be very happy to work on this

         25  with you in any way we can.
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          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          4                 Susan.

          5                 MS. SIEGEL: Thank you, Chair, and

          6  Committee members, for receiving the testimony.

          7                 I am Executive Director of Flatbush

          8  Development Corporation. It is a community

          9  development corporation in Flatbush, responsible for

         10  160,000 residents in our catchment area from Kayten

         11  Road to Avenue H in Coney Island, Flatbush. And I

         12  meet bi-monthly with Neighborhood Association

         13  presidents, 12 neighborhood associations, and this

         14  been identified, illegal conversion, as the number

         15  one priority in our neighborhood.

         16                 So, again, we applaud this first step

         17  in addressing illegal conversion.

         18                 I want to say, in underscoring what

         19  Julian and Ed have said, and moving forward from

         20  circumstantial evidence, there was a fire on East

         21  19th Street in our neighborhood, 40 to 50 residents

         22  were living in that house. They were emptied out,

         23  police were there, there was a vacate order, and the

         24  house is filled up again.

         25                 So, what continues to happen is that,
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          2  yes, at times there are vacate orders, but there is

          3  no way to enforce the condemning of the buildings,

          4  and what I really want to call attention to, and

          5  finally and most importantly, is the human element.

          6                 This has not been discussed today at

          7  all. It is wonderful that we can get in there and

          8  possibly cite violations, but what are the next

          9  steps that need to be taken to address the residents

         10  in that building?

         11                 As Julian said, for many years we

         12  tried to work with City Council, and it was

         13  perceived as a race issue.

         14                 The fire that you have the photo for

         15  was filled with 20 residents of Haitian descent,

         16  many of them, the residents come to our neighborhood

         17  as first-time residents. They have no idea they're

         18  living in illegally converted homes, that are public

         19  and health safety issues.

         20                 What I would love to work with you on

         21  and other community development corporations in our

         22  area is looking at what are the affordable housing

         23  and social service needs of these individuals,

         24  because what ends up happening is there is no --

         25  there is a list to get into affordable housing, and
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          2  there is already insufficient affordable housing in

          3  our City, and they get put into the shelter system,

          4  which is already overtaxed.

          5                 So, we have a displacement issue that

          6  needs to be addressed.

          7                 We have begun to look at strategies

          8  to address that issue, as well, and would be very

          9  happy to talk with you about that.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         12                 Council Member Fidler.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Again as we

         14  sit here I get more educated as to all of the

         15  implications of this issue.

         16                 I signed onto this bill because of my

         17  concern of the one- and two-family home being

         18  illegally converted into a two and three, and now

         19  I'm hearing a problem that I have been involved

         20  with, going back to my days when I was Chairperson

         21  of Community Board 17, your neighbor to the east,

         22  and we called it cubical living, and kind of makes

         23  my blood boil to even think about this. In 1983,

         24  when I chaired Board 17, we had a fire on East 55th

         25  Street, in which six -- back then the term was
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          2  "illegal aliens," okay? Six Haitian, undocumented,

          3  individuals, were killed.

          4                 And I convened a committee of

          5  Community Board 17 to investigate what happened. We

          6  found that the Fire Department had indicated was an

          7  unsafe building and the Buildings Department issued

          8  a violation, and they had both left it at that, and

          9  each one thought that the other was responsible for

         10  taking care of the condition.

         11                 I'm pleased to hear that at least

         12  some agency cleared the building out. I don't

         13  understand why it wasn't padlocked, and I don't

         14  understand why the owner isn't in jail. And you

         15  know, the deaths of those six people, and the result

         16  of the investigation was the lead story on, you

         17  know, News Center 4, I had Bob Tieg with me covering

         18  this story, and the Buildings Commissioner and the

         19  Fire Department did the scarecrow thing, you know?

         20  It was their job. And it was disgusting to me that

         21  22 years later something like that could happen

         22  where the building was emptied out and then everyone

         23  was allowed back in.

         24                 And I don't know, Council member, if

         25  this was one of those situations that you were
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          2  envisioning, but I would suggest that, you know,

          3  that if we're tackling this issue either in this

          4  bill or in another, that creating such a condition

          5  in your building, and I'm not talking about where

          6  you rented out an individual room to somebody, but

          7  you put up partitions and you're renting beds in

          8  eight-hour shifts, and people are sleeping in 20 to

          9  a room, and there's no safe way in or out, and the

         10  only way you could possibly plug in a light is to

         11  have 17 monsters in the wall with eight electrical

         12  outlets, that should be a crime. It should be a

         13  crime, and someone who does that should be put in

         14  jail. And I don't know if that's an appropriate

         15  thing in this bill, and there's got to be a

         16  mechanism by which once a condition like that is

         17  cited, that the building is shut down. Not emptied;

         18  shut down, all right?

         19                 It is not a racial issue. In fact, I

         20  think it is the most pathetic thing that you could

         21  possibly do for the people who are being taken

         22  advantage of, whose lives are being put at risk.

         23  They may not realize it, they may have few other

         24  alternatives, but this alternative is not only

         25  dangerous to firefighters, but it's dangerous to the
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          2  people living there, and it's dangerous to the

          3  people living next door.

          4                 It is despicable, and, you know, we

          5  need to address this once and for all, and make sure

          6  that the agencies know what they have to do, how

          7  they have to do it, and not allow the condition to

          8  recreate itself once they've taken care of it.

          9                 Because I can't believe that in a

         10  quarter of a century we have learned nothing.

         11                 MS. SIEGEL: Thank you. Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         14                 Council Member Vallone.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you.

         16                 And thank you, Council Member Fidler,

         17  for that, because I agree with you completely. I'm

         18  looking into those options.

         19                 Julian, thank you for this picture.

         20  It's amazing, five times in one neighborhood, in one

         21  year, five times, children, and the firefighters who

         22  braved the flames to save them face locked mazes of

         23  death in order to survive this. Thank God they did.

         24  And thank you all for coming down here and telling

         25  us about this, because it's an outrage.
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          2                 I want to say that we never met. Many

          3  times Council members reach out to try to pack a

          4  room with supporters and there's nothing wrong with

          5  that because they have an opportunity to be heard,

          6  too, but we have never met, you apparently saw this

          7  meeting, however you did, and came down and

          8  testified, and I thank all three of you for coming

          9  down and doing that.

         10                 You said that, you know, this hasn't

         11  been done and you haven't seen elected officials

         12  take this on. That may or may not be true, but this

         13  is, this, we're making it sound easy, but this is

         14  not a politically easy thing for us to do here.

         15                 As you've mentioned, other people

         16  have mentioned the race issues involved. There are

         17  people living in these buildings who need to for

         18  whatever reason, there are landlords which are

         19  making money. There are people in my district, which

         20  is replete with people with a mom or a grandmom or a

         21  child living in the basement. We're very nervous

         22  about these type of things and who elect us, and so

         23  it's not a politically easy thing to do but you have

         24  my guarantee that I will not abandon this effort.

         25  And if it gets stopped, it won't be by me. And I'm
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          2  going to continue, and I know a lot of other Council

          3  members up here feel the same way, who will continue

          4  to see this through, until we get some change to

          5  save our neighborhoods and to save the lives of

          6  these children living in these homes, and these

          7  firefighters who have to go in and brave the flames.

          8                 So, thank you very much. And you made

          9  some good suggestions that I'll look into, the

         10  condemnation situation, the criminal situation, and

         11  we'll see what we can do.

         12                 MR. ALSSID: Great.

         13                 MS. SIEGEL: Thank you.

         14                 MR. ALSSID: Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         16                 MR. BLAINE: Madam Chair, and Council

         17  members, am I correct in my assumption that once a

         18  fine is levied, a violation is levied, that it will

         19  not be collected until the house is sold, and it

         20  becomes a lien on the property; is that correct?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: No. Only if

         22  the owner doesn't pay it or can't pay it, then it

         23  becomes a lien.

         24                 MR. BLAINE: Yes. One of the issues

         25  that we've discussed is the whole question of
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          2  enforcement.

          3                 In other words, once this whole

          4  process takes place.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Well, I think

          6  that's the whole issue. That's the problem. They can

          7  give out summonses, they can give out violations,

          8  but there isn't the enforcement that follows.

          9                 MR. BLAINE: We don't see --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: And that's

         11  the issue.

         12                 MR. BLAINE: Yes, we don't see that in

         13  Council Member Vallone's proposal, and so we don't

         14  know, you know, the use of circumstantial evidence

         15  certainly is a step forward, but we don't see that

         16  other step of enforcement as part of this bill. I

         17  don't know if it would be of another provision.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Maybe some of

         19  my colleagues who will be here in January will

         20  consider that kind of legislation.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Why don't we

         22  get it done before that, Madam Chair, while you're

         23  still around. Move quickly on this.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

         25                 MR. BLAINE: Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Go right

          3  ahead. Let's all of us introduce it.

          4                 MR. ALSSID: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

          6  very much.

          7                 Robert Altman, Bernie Carr, and Tony

          8  Pouymari.

          9                 Welcome, gentlemen, and lady. Good to

         10  see you.

         11                 MR. ALTMAN: Good morning. My name is

         12  Robert Altman, and I am the legislative consultant

         13  for the Queens and the Bronx Building Association,

         14  and the Building Association for New York City.

         15                 I am testifying in opposition of

         16  Intro. No. 679, a proposed amendment to Section

         17  27-191 of the City's Administrative Code, that

         18  violates New York Law and is unconstitutional.

         19                 Intro. No. 679, would upon immediate

         20  certification of an application, pose a freeze on

         21  the issuance of almost all building permits not in

         22  compliance with the proposed new zoning. Actually,

         23  it's any permit. I'm sorry about that, except for

         24  health and safety purposes.

         25                 First, Intro. No. 679 would place a
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          2  local ordinance to City's Administrative Code in

          3  direct conflict with the provisions of the New York

          4  City Charter, a clearly superior and controlling

          5  document.

          6                 The New York City Charter, sections

          7  200, 201 and 197-C each provide specific required

          8  procedures for changes in zoning, including notice,

          9  review and an opportunity to be heard, prior to

         10  affecting any change.

         11                 Intro. 679 would administratively

         12  oppose a zoning change, no issues of certain

         13  building permits, permits that were authorized by

         14  law prior to certification of the application,

         15  without following the specific procedures and due

         16  process, protections mandated by the New York City

         17  Charter.

         18                 Provisions of City Charter cannot be

         19  amended by local ordinance, and such attempts are

         20  considered to be invalid.

         21                 Second, Intro. 679 requires a public

         22  referendum.  By requiring that the Buildings

         23  Department adhere to a mere certification in order

         24  to take official action, having this law take effect

         25  without a referendum, Intro 679 runs afoul of the
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          2  City Charter, Section 38, subdivision 12, which

          3  requires a public notice and hearing as a condition

          4  precedent to an official action.

          5                 Intro. 679 would have the effect of

          6  imposing a de facto automatic moratorium on the

          7  issuance of certain building permits without going

          8  through the mandated legislative process.

          9                 It is well settled that imposing a

         10  moratorium on the issuance of building permits

         11  without complying with referral requirements of a

         12  statute governing proposed planning and zoning

         13  actions is a jurisdictional defect that renders any

         14  such enactment invalid.

         15                 Further, a moratorium on the issuance

         16  of building permits is a form of zoning, making

         17  adherence to prescribed zoning procedures a

         18  requirement prior to imposition of the moratorium.

         19                 Additionally, by imposing

         20  restrictions upon property without allowing for due

         21  process, Intro. No. 679 is clearly an unjust taking.

         22                 Indeed, the City cannot just impose

         23  an economic hardship upon a building (sic) by making

         24  economically unviable property already owned by a

         25  builder subject to provisions that have yet to be
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          2  legislated.

          3                 Such an action goes beyond even the

          4  City's unconstitutional attempts in seawall.

          5                 Moreover, the City has a duty to

          6  render its determination as to the status of the

          7  building expeditiously and based solely on the

          8  review of relevant criteria.

          9                 The City cannot claim any relevancy

         10  in a hypothetical future criteria that may

         11  ultimately be rejected.

         12                 Additionally, the Council cannot

         13  delegate legislative authority on zoning or rezoning

         14  to an administrative body, in this case, the

         15  Department of Buildings, the issuing agency for

         16  building permits, without setting standards by which

         17  the administrative action is to be governed.

         18                 By requiring the Department of

         19  Buildings to deny the issuance of certain building

         20  permits merely because a rezoning application has

         21  been certified, but not approved, Intro. No. 679

         22  improperly delegates legislative zoning authority to

         23  an administrative body without setting standards for

         24  review.

         25                 I would also note that it also
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          2  violates the fact that you're having something take

          3  place without a hearing and an opportunity to be

          4  heard by the people who are affected.

          5                 This constitutes an unconstitutional

          6  deprivation of property rights without due process

          7  of law.

          8                 What is most ironic with the

          9  legislation, that even if a person wishes to apply

         10  for a permit that would meet the criteria of the

         11  zoning, rezoning application, a new permit may still

         12  not issue. This is because except for exigent

         13  circumstances, no building permit may be issued.

         14                 This would seem to be an undue

         15  restraint upon property owners in the area.

         16                 Not only that, but if I want to -- if

         17  I'm a building owner in the area, I'm planning on

         18  having something done, electrical-wise in my

         19  building, all of a sudden I'm stopped from doing

         20  that, because if I sent my electrician down for a

         21  permit so I can put up new light switches and things

         22  such as that, that process is denied. That permit

         23  would be denied.

         24                 Moreover, in its last sentence of

         25  subdivision b, the legislation assumes a rezoning
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          2  that might not even take place.

          3                 We would hope that this is not

          4  reflective of the sponsor's intent to pass any

          5  rezoning that is placed before it, as such would be

          6  an abdication of the Council's legislative

          7  authority.

          8                 It is respectfully recommended that

          9  Intro. No. 679 be rejected by the New York City

         10  Council, in that it is impermissibly in conflict

         11  with the City Charter and would be invalid, that it

         12  would impose an unlawful de facto moratorium, which

         13  would be jurisdictionally defective, as well as

         14  invalid, and that it would be an improper delegation

         15  of legislative authority and unconstitutional.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I know Tony

         17  is jumping up and down, but we will hear all three

         18  of you first, and then I'm going to give you an

         19  opportunity to come down, because he threw his name

         20  in first.

         21                 MR. CARR: I don't know whether I want

         22  to go next or give a chance to let him get it all

         23  out of his system before I get to the bill.

         24                 Good morning, Madam Chair, members of

         25  the Committee. I am Bernie Carr, Executive Director
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          2  of NYSAAH, the New York State Association for

          3  Affordable Housing.

          4                 As you know, we are a State-wide

          5  organization of developers and others involved in

          6  the financing of building of affordable housing.

          7                 The bulk of our 250 members work

          8  throughout New York City's five boroughs, and are

          9  collectively responsible for most of the housing

         10  built with City, State or federal subsidies in New

         11  York City in recent years.

         12                 We must respectfully express our

         13  opposition to Intro. 679. While we're certainly

         14  sympathetic to residents and neighborhoods being

         15  downzoned, as developers rush to get projects into

         16  the ground before the new zoning can take effect, I

         17  recently saw this firsthand in my own neighborhood

         18  of Riverdale in the Bronx, as several developers

         19  attempted to get projects underway that were larger

         20  than the new zoning would have allowed.

         21                 Fortunately, for the most part they

         22  failed, and the projects are being built under the

         23  new more restrictive zoning.

         24                 However, we also believe that the

         25  proposed legislation undermine the ULURP process,
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          2  which has guided the City's Land Use practice for

          3  almost 30 years.

          4                 While this process can be a lengthy

          5  one, it's designed to help us make the best Land Use

          6  decisions for our neighborhoods. The consequences of

          7  these decisions may be felt for decades. But to halt

          8  all development during an arbitrary period of that

          9  process, deprives the owner of a legal right to use

         10  his or her property.

         11                 The legislation could cover a period

         12  as long as 65 days.

         13                 While this may not first seem

         14  significant, it could be easily extended once this

         15  precedent has been set.

         16                 The bill could have especially

         17  significant consequences for affordable housing.

         18                 The timing of building permits is

         19  very important. Those projects are closed in June,

         20  developers rush to get foundations poured and other

         21  critical exterior work done before the winter

         22  begins. Both federal tax credits and City tax

         23  incentive programs are time sensitive.

         24                 A delay in the start of construction

         25  could translate into additional costs for less
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          2  subsidy. A developer who wants to begin work on an

          3  affordable housing project in an area undergoing

          4  rezoning, I think this is probably the most

          5  important part of my testimony, even if that project

          6  would still be allowed under the new zoning, could

          7  have the work held up for months if this bill

          8  becomes law.

          9                 If something in the ULURP process is

         10  broken, and buildings are getting built at the

         11  Planning Commission and the Council thinks should

         12  not be built, then we should change that process.

         13  But to halt all development during part of that

         14  process is unfair to the owner.

         15                 Since we do not enforce laws until

         16  they've been passed by the legislative bodies, I

         17  mean the Executive, we should allow the ULURP

         18  process to go to completion before telling owners

         19  what they cannot build on their property.

         20                 On the closing conciliatory note

         21  that's not in my testimony, and then I'll let you

         22  jump on my colleague, I can certainly say that I

         23  have learned in the course of listening today, I've

         24  learned more about the bill and also about the

         25  sponsor's intent in drawing up the bill, and I
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          2  certainly hope that we can become part of

          3  conversation going forward on this bill, as opposed

          4  to just flatly objecting and turning around and

          5  walking out the door.

          6                 I can only speak, I can only speak

          7  for myself.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you,

          9  Bernie.

         10                 Next.

         11                 MS. POUYMARI: Good morning. Is this

         12  on? Yes.

         13                 Good morning. Thank you for the

         14  opportunity to come before the Council Committee.

         15  I'm wondering did I appropriately check my request

         16  to speak. I am here for 679 --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Then you --

         18                 MS. POUYMARI: Did I put the wrong --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: We just put

         20  you there as a buffer.

         21                 You looked like one of those strong

         22  females, so we said okay. Made Tony feel better,

         23  too.

         24                 MS. POUYMARI: Tony Avella and I know

         25  each other from civics work, and of course he's in
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          2  our area.

          3                 I'm from Auburndale. I'm an officer

          4  in the Auburndale Improvement Association, and our

          5  community, that is Auburndale, is not due for

          6  rezoning, generally downzoning, until next spring.

          7  And consequently, our area is under assault, by

          8  developers trying to beat the rezoning, which is

          9  usually downzoning, and correcting the zoning for

         10  the community.

         11                 We have primarily one-family houses.

         12  We do have a zoning of 3 2 which allows two-family

         13  houses. Had I known illegal conversions were going

         14  to be on a docket, I would have come in to speak in

         15  favor of limiting that, because that's also a

         16  problem, but I'm specifically talking about the

         17  moratorium that would take place when zoning is just

         18  about to be put under consideration and just about

         19  to be put into the process.

         20                 Developers are demolishing good

         21  housing stock in our area, and enlarging buildings

         22  and constructing multiple homes on sites where one

         23  one-family house existed, but because of the lot

         24  size, they're putting up two two-families, which

         25  generally become to three families with an illegal
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          2  walk-in apartment, and the buildings are out of

          3  context to the style of the housing in the area, and

          4  one by one our members are coming in and saying what

          5  are you going to do about it, what's going to

          6  happen? We are under assault.

          7                 The house is sold, the fences go up,

          8  the house comes down, and all these tight

          9  constructions come in.

         10                 I say tight because I'm talking about

         11  an increase of the utilization of the area. So

         12  really we're taking a one-family area or a cape

         13  which exists, single-family cape, small houses and

         14  in a 3 2 zone, but it really needs to be downzoned

         15  to fit the appropriateness of the stock, of the

         16  housing stock, and we're enlarging it with two and

         17  three stories, three stories by size compared to

         18  what, but not necessarily three stories because of

         19  current loopholes. And I urge you to please tweak

         20  this, or whatever you have to do to make it truly

         21  appropriate and get a moratorium for us so we don't

         22  have the developers coming in and I think in some

         23  cases they're creating the impression that people

         24  will lose value to their homes, and in fact I don't

         25  see how they could lose value to their homes if they
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          2  maintain the essence of the community, the essence

          3  of the neighborhood which they bought into and paid

          4  so dearly through their lives.

          5                 How often people have said that the

          6  home is our most valuable investment. Perhaps a

          7  college education becomes our most valuable, but

          8  certainly the home is usually what people invest in

          9  and they expect at the end when they're ready to

         10  move on to get increased equity out of their home,

         11  and developers are doing that certainly and they

         12  create the fear they're going to lose that and I

         13  don't think they will.

         14                 I think that their neighborhoods

         15  retain their character, and that the housing is

         16  still going to be as expensive.

         17                 I have an area where I won't even say

         18  what I paid for my house 30 years ago, because it's

         19  almost obscene. Houses are going, in my area, a few

         20  blocks near Northern, for $600,000, $700,000, and

         21  they are one-family houses, no more than 40 by 100,

         22  occasionally 50 by 100, so they are getting their

         23  money's worth without selling to a developer.

         24                 Please consider this. Please work on

         25  it. Please pass it. Over-development affects our
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          2  over-crowded schools, the environment, services like

          3  transportation, getting people to work, sanitation,

          4  sewerage, on-street parking. We need the protection

          5  to provide order, and protection from chaos and

          6  disorder and abuse by developers. We hope for the

          7  moratorium to protect our investment and the quality

          8  of life that the homeowners had bought into maybe

          9  25, maybe 30, maybe more years ago.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         12                 I think what you said is what most of

         13  us, I know Tony, myself, probably Peter, and I guess

         14  Leroy and you, are exactly the situation that we

         15  would like this bill to address.

         16                 So, again, I know, and I think Tony

         17  has calmed himself down a little, and I think we're

         18  all to the point we agree there will be tweaks to

         19  this legislation, but I'll let you do your thing,

         20  now that your face is less pink.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I think you

         22  may want to leave the table. I think you may want to

         23  get up.

         24                 MS. POUYMARI: Thank you very much.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thank you.
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          2                 I have a couple of comments. First of

          3  all, I'm sorry, I don't remember your name, the

          4  gentleman representing affordable housing.

          5                 MR. CARR: Bernie Carr.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I appreciate

          7  your willingness --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: They're

          9  really very nice guys.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Okay.

         11                 MR. CARR: Thank you, Madam Chair.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I appreciate

         13  the willingness to discuss the situation. I think

         14  both of you made comments, though, that you

         15  obviously didn't hear my comments, earlier comments,

         16  that the bill is not intended to stop all permits,

         17  but those permits that would be in violation of the

         18  zoning.

         19                 MR. CARR: And that was not, you know,

         20  I guess reflected in the bill, the way I read the

         21  bill the way it's written now, which is kind of what

         22  I was trying to say with my little paragraph that I

         23  threw in at the end.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Now, before I

         25  go on to the other gentleman, let me just say that
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          2  I've been working on these issues since I was

          3  elected, and I have to tell you that it offends me,

          4  it offends me when we try and do something to stop

          5  the overdevelopment, the issue of affordable housing

          6  is brought up.

          7                 There is no truth to the fact that

          8  what we do is affecting affordable housing.

          9                 We are very, this body, this Council

         10  is extremely interested in affordable housing, but

         11  it is offensive to me that the housing community,

         12  the real estate community, somehow manages to bring

         13  this issue up as a way to derail to attempt to stop

         14  over-development. And in that respect, and I'm not

         15  asking for an answer, I'm just, you had your

         16  opportunity to speak, this is my opportunity to

         17  speak, I think we have to recognize that every time

         18  this comes up, state that we find it objectionable

         19  and offensive that this issue, a real issue of

         20  affordable housing, is being misused as a way to

         21  stop the over-development. And I can tell you, I am

         22  just floored that you have shown up here to oppose

         23  this based upon affordable housing.

         24                 And it is not the first time, I am

         25  not saying you, but it is not the first time. I
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          2  remember, my counsel reminded me, when we had the

          3  hearing earlier on in our tenure in the Council, on

          4  the weak and permit legislation, that in effect

          5  construction is going on on the weekends, that the

          6  issue was brought up about affordable housing as

          7  well. And again, it has come up in other

          8  circumstances.

          9                 It is really offensive. And I have to

         10  tell you, we are all committed to that, and it

         11  should not be brought up in the context of what

         12  we're trying to do, in terms of stopping

         13  inappropriate development, illegal development.

         14                 And I'm not asking for a comment, I'm

         15  just stating that whenever somebody comes before me

         16  and says that, I'm going to respond because I think

         17  it's inappropriate.

         18                 Now, in respect to the Queens and

         19  Bronx Building Association, this is not the first

         20  time you've testified on some of my legislation.

         21  Without going into specifics, I find the testimony

         22  ridiculous. It in effect ignores most of the things

         23  in the legislation. It in fact uses questionable

         24  logic to dispute the reasons for the bill. I'm not

         25  going to ask any questions because I don't see the
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          2  point to it.

          3                 You know, you can take logic and you

          4  can just turn it around on its side to, you know, to

          5  promote your argument. I've offered to meet with

          6  this association, I've said to them let's sit down

          7  and talk about how we can work these issues out and

          8  work together, those offers have always been

          9  refused. They want their way. They want to be able

         10  to do whatever they want. Guess what? Times are

         11  changing. And no longer are we going to let builders

         12  in this City get their way with anything they want.

         13                 I mean, I'm not even going to get

         14  into the specifics of this testimony, because I find

         15  it ludicrous. It does not address the issues. The

         16  legal issues are specious at best. And I'm just, I

         17  just had to comment on that, but I'm not going to

         18  question the speakers. I don't even think it's worth

         19  my time.

         20                 MR. ALTMAN: Can I at least have a say

         21  on some of that?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Absolutely.

         23                 MR. ALTMAN: First of all, on the

         24  affordable housing argument, and I gather counsel

         25  does understand this, but when we bring up
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          2  affordable housing and affordability, which are two

          3  different issues as well, we are part of a regional

          4  housing market. And there are pressures that exist

          5  in this City being part of that regional housing

          6  market.

          7                 You will find that people want to be

          8  here, and we don't control that market, we must

          9  build in that market.

         10                 So, when we are building something,

         11  we do not control the cost of land. We pay what the

         12  market bears. If we could get it cheaper, we could

         13  get it cheaper, and not only that, we would then be

         14  able to sell it cheaper. But we can't. Land is

         15  expensive in this issue.

         16                 Council Member Vallone, your father

         17  was fond of saying the land in New York City is like

         18  oil is to Texas, and you know something? The analogy

         19  is no longer perfect, because it's more like gold.

         20  It's that expensive now. And we don't necessarily

         21  control that.

         22                 One of the things that we also deal

         23  with is affordability issues. Anything that

         24  increases the cost of construction makes it less and

         25  less affordable. We all face those issues. When it's
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          2  a generic issue, such as with certain building codes

          3  and the like, it affects not only our members, it

          4  will affect NYSAFA's members.

          5                 When you do something which increases

          6  the cost of housing per unit by $30,000, grant you,

          7  on a $600,000 home, that doesn't seem as if it's

          8  affordable. But it makes it less affordable.

          9                 And in a City where we are constantly

         10  discussing how we are losing that middle class, that

         11  middle class is leaving to those areas in the region

         12  that can find something within their income level.

         13                 And when we make it so that the cost

         14  of housing is more expensive, we push those people

         15  out.

         16                 With respect to my testimony, first

         17  of all, certain parts of it were in fact stated by

         18  the City Planning Commission in its testimony, so I

         19  don't know if I'd say that it's ridiculous.

         20                 The next thing is, what you're doing

         21  here in terms of your moratorium, is you're not

         22  really creating a moratorium, you're creating a

         23  springing moratorium. The moratorium does not exist

         24  until the zoning application, in fact, is occurring.

         25                 I am not about to say whether it's
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          2  legal or illegal in New York State to then pass an

          3  individual moratorium for the specific sites. For

          4  example, the woman here is discussing Auburndale. If

          5  there was a bill that was introduced specifically to

          6  Auburndale, we would then take a look at it in terms

          7  of its constitutionality and its rights under state

          8  law.

          9                 But you don't even have that in this

         10  bill. It's a springing moratorium. It doesn't exist

         11  until something else happens. And that happens, that

         12  moratorium happens, without a hearing, without a

         13  piece of legislation, without an opportunity to be

         14  heard. That is constitutionally defective. It is a

         15  violation of due process.

         16                 Next I'd also like to just address

         17  what I am concerned about, which I hope the other

         18  members of the Committee do not share.

         19                 With respect to the question of

         20  whether something is legal or illegal and so what.

         21  The public relies upon the City Council, our elected

         22  officials, the entire body, the Legislature, the

         23  Mayor, the courts, to uphold rights. You are

         24  responsible for passing legislation that, in fact,

         25  you deem will probably, at least will probably pass
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          2  muster in the courts.

          3                 The failure to do so, and if

          4  everybody took that attitude would in fact be a

          5  violation of everybody's oath of this office,

          6  because you do not take the oath to defend your

          7  people of the district and such. You defend it to

          8  uphold the laws. When you pass laws that may be

          9  problematic, and you know that that's the way,

         10  you're not upholding that oath.

         11                 So, I want to just make it that we're

         12  here discussing the legalities of this, and the

         13  legislation that's before us.

         14                 We're looking for -- we'll be happy

         15  to look at whatever legislation and tell you what

         16  defects there may be. There may in fact come a time

         17  where we discuss the policy of it.

         18                 There are things that were raised

         19  today that were interesting issues, and I'm not

         20  necessarily opposing Intro. 644 or Intro. 651,

         21  because our association, it does not necessarily

         22  affect us.

         23                 But, in fact, there are things within

         24  there which create certain issues with respect to

         25  the housing market.
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          2                 The woman from Flatbush brought that

          3  up, some things need to be done in a global context,

          4  and that when you do, in fact, kick people out, they

          5  go away. Where is away? Is it a homeless shelter? Is

          6  it another rooming house situation which is illegal?

          7  Is it an illegal three family in Brooklyn where

          8  they're going to go into?

          9                 They have to find something that's

         10  affordable. These are also your citizens, these are

         11  also your constituents of the City. It's not an easy

         12  issue, as Council Member Vallone passed, I do

         13  appreciate the fact that he did mention that, the

         14  fact that he does have seniors who are affected by

         15  this issue, so it's not a difficult issue. I'm glad

         16  he understands the situation.

         17                 But, you know, we're here trying to

         18  create housing that exists for this City. And we do

         19  it, and a number of our developers do in fact do

         20  partnership housing, and we do that because we care

         21  about housing in the City.

         22                 A number of our members are also

         23  members of NYSAFA, especially within the Queens

         24  organization.

         25                 On Staten Island the price of homes,
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          2  the new homes you often see, are still in the three-

          3  to four-hundred thousand dollar range, affordable to

          4  a two-income family.

          5                 We're concerned about that. We're

          6  concerned about the downzonings impacting upon that.

          7  We're concerned about the downzonings and impacting

          8  upon them.

          9                 As I said, we do not create the

         10  housing market, we live in that housing market.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 MR. CARR: Can I just -- a very brief

         13  moment?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

         15                 MR. CARR: First --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Just stick to

         17  like the piece of legislation. Bob kind of wandered

         18  and I was going to --

         19                 MR. CARR: Okay. Give me a minute. And

         20  all I want to say is that when I come here, I come

         21  here not to represent or apologize for the real

         22  estate development community, it's specifically to

         23  represent my members who are affordable housing

         24  developers.

         25                 We have never questioned the
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          2  Council's commitment to affordable housing. I have

          3  met many of you individually. We were disappointed

          4  that the ACORN and NYSAFA tiered income program did

          5  not get refunded in the budget this year by the

          6  Council, but again, it's clear that the Council is

          7  very committed to affordable housing.

          8                 I come here to talk about unintended

          9  negative consequences in bills that are otherwise

         10  very well intentioned, unintended negative

         11  consequences for us.

         12                 If this bill had specified that

         13  development could go forward during this moratorium

         14  period, now I can't speak for my members, but I

         15  might not have been here at all if I had understood

         16  that that was, that was actually written in the

         17  bill. My members might not have asked me to come

         18  here and testify today, I really don't know. So, I

         19  just want to make that clear. And, again, I hope

         20  that we can be part of a conversation going forward

         21  on ways to tweak this bill and have it address the

         22  problems that are real problems, while not at the

         23  same time having unintended consequences for

         24  something that I know you all are very much

         25  committed to.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          3                 Council Member Fidler.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I am going to

          5  ask questions. And Councilman Avella, the first note

          6  that I wrote on my sheet was affordable housing. And

          7  I also come from a neighborhood where we have been

          8  begging for two and a half years for a downzoning,

          9  and have watched the community be raped by

         10  developers.

         11                 I'm all for development, all right?

         12  I'm all for it. But it is out of control, out of

         13  control. The minute an elected official stands up

         14  and says I want my neighborhood retain its character

         15  with a downzoning, we are preyed upon. And people

         16  are preyed upon.

         17                 Now, this woman here is talking about

         18  Auburndale, and talking about values of homes, and I

         19  believe I said the exact same thing at a hearing,

         20  all right?

         21                 I bought a home 18 years ago. I'm

         22  going to have to settle, if I were to sell it, for

         23  the 150 percent profit that my next door neighbor

         24  just made selling the identical home, all right?

         25                 Somebody who wants to make 220
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          2  because they want to sell that home to someone who

          3  is going to put up something out of character with

          4  the neighborhood, doesn't care about my

          5  neighborhood. They're leaving anyway, and they're

          6  being pigs.

          7                 Nobody in my community is coming here

          8  and ripping down one-family houses and putting up

          9  affordable housing. And are you seriously telling me

         10  this trickle-down economics theory that the $800,000

         11  condo that's going up in Plum Beach is going to

         12  affect and impact the affordable housing market? Mr.

         13  Altman, is that what you're saying?

         14                 MR. ALTMAN: Well, I'm not saying that

         15  in the abstract.

         16                 What I am saying to you is the

         17  following, that the Council has to consider this:

         18  You have a City that has grown tremendously. It has

         19  gone from 7.35 million people to 8.1 million people

         20  in the course of 12 years. That's a 750,000-person

         21  increase. Do you think we have built enough housing

         22  to take care of that 750,000 increase? The answer is

         23  obviously no.

         24                 Second, you have people with

         25  different income classifications. As you have people
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          2  of different income classifications in this City

          3  increase, they have to find housing within their

          4  market. Everyone is in a different market. When I

          5  went to look for housing a few years ago, I had to

          6  look for what was in my price range. There were a

          7  lot of other people like it. We're driving up the

          8  market because we're there. We have the income.

          9                 They're coming into your neighborhood

         10  and they're saying this is what I can get, this is

         11  what I can afford.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So, are you

         13  telling me the character of my neighborhood has to

         14  change to accommodate people who want to come to our

         15  City; is that what you're saying? Because that seems

         16  to be what you're saying.

         17                 MR. ALTMAN: They may even be within

         18  your City. I'll go so far as to say the following: I

         19  lived in New York City for the first 43 years of my

         20  life. To get what I wanted, in terms of a house, I

         21  had to move out of New York City because it was not

         22  here for me. It did not exist. It was not in good

         23  shape.

         24                 It is the options. The more you limit

         25  the options of people that are in the various income
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          2  levels, you will see them go more and more to the

          3  suburbs. And this is reflected in the statistics,

          4  because if you look at the median income in New York

          5  City, it is lower than the region. And the reason

          6  that it is lower than the region is because people

          7  like me moved out.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I don't want

          9  anyone to have to move out of New York City for any

         10  economic reason. I'd love for everyone to remain.

         11                 I have lived in Brooklyn my entire

         12  life, and struggled and saved to be able to buy my

         13  home. I am enjoying the inevitability of owning real

         14  estate. It's the only thing that always goes up,

         15  because they're not making more of it.

         16                 Also not annexing more land in New

         17  York City. And when you tear down that one-family

         18  home next door to my house and put up a three-story

         19  building, you are changing the City and the

         20  neighborhood that I love, and that I scrimped and

         21  saved to be able to live in. That's a consequence of

         22  what you're saying, and it's unacceptable to the

         23  people living in communities like mine.

         24                 There's got to be a different answer

         25  than allowing developers to come in with reckless

                                                            106

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  disregard for the character of a neighborhood and

          3  altering it to make bucks. Mr. Carr, it's got

          4  nothing to do with affordable housing.

          5                 I share Councilman Avella's annoyance

          6  that that term is being used as the boogeyman to try

          7  and make us look like bad guys for something that we

          8  all, on this side of the table, believe in as much

          9  as any of you do, all right?

         10                 And we will do everything we can, all

         11  kinds of inclusionary zoning, things that we

         12  possibly can, but don't tell me, don't even suggest

         13  that when you're tearing down a one-family house and

         14  putting up an $800,000 per unit condominium next

         15  door that that's got thing one to do with affordable

         16  housing, because it doesn't.

         17                 MR. CARR: I'm not -- in my situation,

         18  I can't speak for Mr. Altman's situation, in my

         19  situation, that's not what we're talking about. I'm

         20  here representing people in their capacity as

         21  developers of the project that receive City, state

         22  and federal funding, everything that they do is very

         23  closely scrutinized and monitored by the funding

         24  agencies, by HPD.

         25                 My situation that I'm here to talk
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          2  about are not people who are tearing down one-family

          3  houses and building $800,000 condos. So, I really

          4  want to make that clear. That's a whole other --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, perhaps,

          6  and I think I heard you say perhaps you

          7  misunderstood Councilman Avella's bill as being an

          8  absolute moratorium on all construction, and I don't

          9  think that's anyone's intention.

         10                 I think it's an attempt to have a

         11  moratorium about construction that would be

         12  violative of the proposed zoning resolution.

         13                 I also want to mention, and this is

         14  another argument that never works with me, the old

         15  slippery slope argument, that if we okay a 65-day

         16  delay, maybe next year you'll come back and make it

         17  95 days, or 120 days. And you know what? That's not

         18  what's before us. Come back to me and complain about

         19  the longer delay if you ever do that, all right?

         20  But, you know, in the overall scheme of things, all

         21  right, 65 days is 65 days, not 95 or 125, and don't,

         22  you know, let's not fault the short delay because

         23  now you're opening the door to a longer delay.

         24                 So, I mean I don't buy into that

         25  either.
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          2                 MR. CARR: My hope just continues to

          3  remain that, and maybe even before a bill is

          4  drafted, that we have the opportunity to understand

          5  the intent of the bill and maybe incorporate some of

          6  our concerns and comments earlier on.

          7                 The last thing we're here to do, the

          8  last thing I'm ever here to do today is help people

          9  tear down one-family houses and build $800,000

         10  condos. Absolutely the last thing I'm here to do

         11  today.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, I'm glad

         13  to hear that, and I take you at your word.

         14                 Now, Mr. Altman, I agree with one

         15  thing you said, okay? I don't like legislation that

         16  is going to be challenged by your group in court and

         17  found to be unconstitutionally illegal. I don't say

         18  so what, and I don't think I heard Councilman Avella

         19  say so what. I think he disagreed with your legal

         20  conclusion, and to tell you the truth, I am an

         21  attorney, I haven't, you know, researched the legal

         22  issue, so what, you know, I don't take the so what

         23  attitude because when I pass a bill, I intend for it

         24  to be legal and forceful.

         25                 However, the entire thrust of your
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          2  written testimony was on the law. Do you not

          3  acknowledge the existence of the problem, that when

          4  a neighborhood talks about a downzoning, there is an

          5  immediate, immediate rush to put a footprint in the

          6  ground so that that development can go up no matter

          7  what the stated planning, long-term intention of the

          8  City of New York, or the community or the City

          9  Planning Commission might ultimately be? And how

         10  would you propose that we resolve that issue so that

         11  that doesn't continue to happen to neighborhoods

         12  like mine?

         13                 MR. ALTMAN: Okay --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay, before

         15  you give an answer, I'm going to ask that your

         16  answer be brief, because personally I think we've

         17  come to an im-passe, and I still have lots of people

         18  that need to testify.

         19                 So, Bob, if you could just be very

         20  brief.

         21                 MR. ALTMAN: Just two things.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: And, you know

         23  --

         24                 MR. ALTMAN: Two things.

         25                 First is that if you do have a

                                                            110

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  developer who has already bought his property in

          3  that district, he will rush because he is faced with

          4  an economic situation whereby he has bought the

          5  property at a certain process, he has already run

          6  his numbers, and any downzoning may in fact harm his

          7  numbers and lead to a loss on the project and maybe

          8  a seriously damaging loss, and if they're a small

          9  developer, it might put them out of business. So,

         10  yes, they will frantically rush to do that. I don't

         11  dispute that.

         12                 Second thing is that we don't

         13  necessarily dispute that any downzoning is bad.

         14  There were examples on Staten Island where the

         15  Staten Island builders did in fact not oppose the

         16  downzonings, did in fact say they were appropriate

         17  in instances, and it's not said that every

         18  downzoning is inappropriate.

         19                 So the association doesn't do it.

         20                 We generally believe things should be

         21  done through the ULURP process. Now, as respect to

         22  neighborhoods, it seems like a rush. I would say the

         23  following: It may seem like a rush because you have

         24  that normal sense of development, and there's a lot

         25  of real estate going up in New York, which I don't
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          2  dispute that, plus the people who are rushing. That

          3  probably does make it look like a frenzy, with that

          4  combination.

          5                 Should you have things that are being

          6  done in the normal course of business, when you add

          7  that to the rush, I'm not going to dispute that in

          8  some neighborhoods that may look as if it's being

          9  raped, as you say. I may not use that word, but

         10  let's say it's getting developed quicker than it

         11  might have been, if not for the downzoning

         12  application.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Madam

         14  Chairwoman, with all due respect, you've

         15  acknowledged the issue but you didn't tell me what

         16  your answer is.

         17                 Our answer is the illegal. I mean, we

         18  have people putting the footprint in the ground and

         19  letting it sit there for a year knowing that now

         20  they can take their time.

         21                 What answer that is legal do you have

         22  to address the problem that you heard us talk about

         23  and this woman sitting next to you talked about?

         24                 MR. ALTMAN: In terms of putting your

         25  moratorium on, as I said earlier, I have not
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          2  analyzed that situation.

          3                 We have analyzed this bill. This bill

          4  is defective in that respect.

          5                 Can it be salvaged? I don't know. I

          6  have not looked to salvage this bill. I would not

          7  have an answer to that. It would not be something

          8  that I would be doing in the course of, I have not

          9  been asked to do and would not be looked to do it,

         10  and would obviously be done in the context of what

         11  our associations want done. So I haven't even

         12  brought it back to them.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO okay, I think

         14  at this point we chalk one up for the other side.

         15                 Thank both you gentlemen, and thank

         16  the young lady that was here.

         17                 We have Phyllis Shafron, who is from

         18  the Office of Assemblyman Brian McLaughlin, and then

         19  after that I do have several more speakers.

         20                 I hesitate to put the clock on you,

         21  but in lieu of that, I will ask all of you to keep

         22  your statements under three minutes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Can I just say

         24  something, Madam?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thank you,

          3  Madam Chair.

          4                 I just wanted to make two quick

          5  comments. One, in reference to my comment about so

          6  what. It was not that we'd do anything illegal or

          7  not abide by the law, but very often, let's say the

          8  City, in its wisdom, rather than do something that's

          9  even legal, they get so afraid, some of the City

         10  agencies and the Administration get so afraid that

         11  there is possible litigation that they don't take

         12  the action in the first place.

         13                 And that was my point, that we

         14  believe we're on legal ground, but we should not do

         15  it, because there is potential litigation at the end

         16  of the road.

         17                 And the other thing I just wanted to

         18  make, in reference to the previous speaker about the

         19  middle class, or even the City of New York. I

         20  represent a working class, middle class and upper

         21  middle class district, and they have said to me,

         22  over and over again, that if something isn't done

         23  about the over-development situation and the rape of

         24  the communities, they are moving.

         25                 It is not because they can't find
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          2  what they need. It is because the quality of life,

          3  because of the over-development, is disappearing.

          4                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: No, I think

          6  you're absolutely right. And I think those of us

          7  here, you're kind of preaching to the choir.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Madam Chair?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Madam Chair, I

         11  did want to just point out one thing. I think that

         12  in protecting the quality of life of the

         13  neighborhoods, we're only enhancing the property

         14  value and not diminishing it.

         15                 We're only allowing those homeowners

         16  in those homes to maintain an enhanced property

         17  value, and I think that that's what we're trying to

         18  protect. And I think what Councilman Fidler and

         19  Councilman Avella is trying to point out is that the

         20  quality of these homes that's being built by these

         21  developers do not even meet anywhere the quality of

         22  homes that exist in the communities.

         23                 I'm having developers building homes

         24  without the possibility of people putting in the air

         25  condition, without the possibility of people clearly
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          2  going for multiple dwelling conversions as soon as

          3  the owner is in the property, and that's what we're

          4  trying to fight today. Not affordable housing, or

          5  not even proper development.

          6                 I think that once an area is zoned,

          7  and, you know, I sympathize with people who feel

          8  they need to move out of the City so that they can

          9  have enough dwelling or enough space, I think really

         10  at a certain point we have to understand what

         11  saturation is within our own City and deal with that

         12  in a real reality as opposed to dancing around it,

         13  and I think that's really one of the issues that

         14  we're going to have to face as a Council, at what

         15  point there's too much development in a

         16  neighborhood, at what point do we sacrifice the

         17  character and history of neighborhoods just because

         18  people want to move into a community?

         19                 At what point do we sacrifice safety

         20  and security? You know, in my neighborhood we had a

         21  fire, and the Chair of Community Board 13 is here,

         22  in Queens Village, because a private home had a

         23  family of 15 living in it. It was one home, but

         24  because there was so many people living in the home,

         25  the fire started because they ran the air
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          2  conditioner on one electric line, that the air

          3  conditioner caught on fire, the Fire Department,

          4  when they looked in there, there was 30 different

          5  appliances connected to that one electrical line,

          6  because it's an older house and because they didn't

          7  update their electric.

          8                 We have to protect against developers

          9  that are coming in and still building new homes with

         10  that same kind of line and that same kind of

         11  inadequate provision.

         12                 And while I can understand that

         13  people want to develop, we have to be more concerned

         14  about the quality of life for people that have

         15  invested their time and effort and entire life

         16  savings on a home. And also to protect I think the

         17  integrity and the quality of historical

         18  neighborhoods and even residential neighborhoods I

         19  think are the prime concerns of Councilman Avella

         20  why he put this bill forth.

         21                 And I'm a little disappointed that

         22  the two people that testified didn't come with

         23  solutions, just arguments.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay, thank
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          2  you very much.

          3                 MS. SHAFRAN: Thank you.

          4                 I'm Phyllis Shafran.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Please pull

          6  the mic towards you and press the button. When it's

          7  off, you're on.

          8                 MS. SHAFRAN: I think we're here,

          9  right?

         10                 Hi. I'm Phyllis Shafran, and I am

         11  Chief of Staff to State Assemblyman Brian

         12  McLaughlin.

         13                 Regrettably he's unable to be here

         14  today, but he asked me to read the following

         15  statement on his behalf.

         16                 Madam Chairwoman, thank you for

         17  allowing me the opportunity to offer my thoughts on

         18  an issue which impacts the lives of so many.

         19                 I want to also extend special thanks

         20  to my Councilman and friend Tony Avella, whose

         21  leadership, and fighting the fight on behalf of

         22  working families.

         23                 Indeed, in one's lifetime, probably

         24  the largest and most significant purchase that any

         25  of us will make is a house. A house represents more
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          2  than just a monetary transaction. It's where we put

          3  our roots, raise our children, have the good times

          4  we'll always remember and the place we seek solace

          5  and comfort.

          6                 Especially in Queens, our homes make

          7  up a community, the fiber of support that a

          8  neighborhood is all about.

          9                 It is absolutely vital to maintain

         10  that fiber, to safeguard it from anything that would

         11  weaken and destroy its foundation and threaten the

         12  comfort of home.

         13                 We must protect and preserve the

         14  quality of our community, because in so doing we are

         15  protecting the quality of life.

         16                 You only have to travel a few blocks

         17  in my district to see the assault. Home after home,

         18  single family, elegant in its history, replaced by

         19  over-sized, out-of-character McMansions, which

         20  change the community look and feel and sap City

         21  services.

         22                 On the State level I was successful

         23  in being able to pass legislation which the Governor

         24  signed into law that eliminates a loophole in the

         25  tax law that provided incentives to such
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          2  over-development.

          3                 Clearly, more needs to be done. That

          4  is why I am in full support of Intro. 679,

          5  introduced by Councilman Tony Avella, which would

          6  establish a building moratorium in communities about

          7  to be rezoned.

          8                 The race to beat the zoning clock

          9  must be ended, and the City must take preventive

         10  measures to assure that time does not run out.

         11                 Therefore, please let the record

         12  reflect that I am in full accord with my colleague

         13  in government Tony Avella.

         14                 Preserving the integrity of a

         15  neighborhood should never be about how well a game

         16  is played, because if it were, finding loopholes and

         17  skirting deadlines would certainly be called taking

         18  unfair advantage. What we need is a time out.

         19                 Once again, I want to thank

         20  Chairwoman Madeline Provenzano for convening this

         21  hearing. I urge the City Council to pass Intro. 679,

         22  so that another house is not destroyed as we

         23  deliberate and plan how we can best save it.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you
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          2  very much.

          3                 Give our best to the Assemblyman.

          4                 Richard Hellenbrecht. Lilly Pappas.

          5  And, well, the last name is Bankoff. I'm not sure

          6  what the first is. Is it Simeon or?

          7                 Okay, again, I won't put the clock on

          8  but I would ask all of you to keep your testimony

          9  brief, and whoever wants to start, start.

         10                 MS. PAPPAS: You can start.

         11                 MR. HELLENBRECHT: Okay.

         12                 Good morning, Madam Chair, and

         13  members of the New York City Housing and Buildings

         14  Committee.

         15                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         16  talk to you about this proposal, Introduction No.

         17  679, to protect communities during the final phases

         18  of the lengthy Urban Land Use Review Process,

         19  relative to changing zoning designations.

         20                 My name is Richard Hellenbrecht, and

         21  I'm speaking to you today as Chair of Community

         22  Board 13 in Queens. I heartily support the effort of

         23  Councilman Tony Avella, to protect the communities

         24  that are in the midst of a hard battle to be

         25  rezoned.
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          2                 As a community board member and civic

          3  association president, I am thoroughly familiar with

          4  the development pressure that has been placed on

          5  low-density, low-rise communities in the past few

          6  years.

          7                 Thankfully, the current

          8  Administration and Council have recognized the need

          9  to preserve these residential areas in order to

         10  retain quality neighborhoods and keep the middle

         11  class tax base in the City.

         12                 In the past few years you have

         13  implemented improved zoning tools such as the new R

         14  2 A district and City Planning has been conducting

         15  unprecedented amount of new zoning reviews.

         16                 Unfortunately, the developers always

         17  seem to be a step ahead of the communities and have

         18  plenty of cash to entice homeowners and property

         19  owners.

         20                 I think Introduction No. 679 will

         21  provide another very useful tool to help us maintain

         22  the character of our beloved communities.

         23                 The lower-density communities are

         24  currently in very high demand, thanks to low

         25  mortgage rates, a robust economy in the City and the
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          2  influx of immigration.

          3                 Furthermore, there is a nationwide

          4  demand for larger quarters, feeding the current

          5  housing boom and crowding the lovely towns

          6  throughout Queens and the other boroughs.

          7                 Unfortunately, the prevalent

          8  low-density zoning regulations with their loopholes

          9  and exemptions, permit overly large structures

         10  inconsistent with the as built neighborhood

         11  character.

         12                 Furthermore, faster certification

         13  provides a faster and almost foolproof mechanism for

         14  developers to obtain permits.

         15                 In Community Board 13 we have

         16  completed three rezonings in the past two years, and

         17  as of this month, there are three new rezonings

         18  underway covering probably about a third of the

         19  homes in our district. Of the completed rezonings,

         20  we have seen a mad rush to file building permits

         21  while the lengthy ULURP process winds its way

         22  through.

         23                 In each case I have unsuccessfully

         24  asked the Queens Buildings' Commissioner for a

         25  moratorium once the City has completed that portion
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          2  of the rezoning.

          3                 Unfortunately the answer is always no

          4  when I ask for that rezoning.

          5                 I think that it's very important for

          6  the Council to move very quickly on this resolution,

          7  and I hope that we can put it into place as soon as

          8  possible.

          9                 I didn't know that Introduction No.

         10  651 was going to be discussed today, but I'd like to

         11  just briefly say I fully support that.

         12                 As the Vice President of the Queens

         13  Civic Congress, and as the Chair of the Platform

         14  Committee of Queens Civic Congress, both of these

         15  items and many other items sponsored by Tony and

         16  other members are very much part of that platform we

         17  very much support, and a hundred civic associations

         18  that we represent throughout Queens support all of

         19  these issues that will attempt to try to remove

         20  over-development from affecting the Queens'

         21  neighborhoods. Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         23                 MS. PAPPAS: Okay, good afternoon. I

         24  want to thank Chairwoman Provenzano. I'm from the

         25  Bronx, but, unfortunately, I'm not in your district,
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          2  but I appreciate all of the --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Are you

          4  Olinville?

          5                 MS. PAPPAS: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Yes. You're

          7  right on the benefit, tip of the edge.

          8                 MS. PAPPAS: We all benefit for all

          9  the work you've been doing, right. We appreciate it.

         10                 I'd like to read a letter that I

         11  wrote in support of Councilman Tony Avella.

         12                 I'm from the Olinville Taxpayers and

         13  Civic Association in the North Bronx. We are a

         14  homeowners and a tenants organization in the

         15  Northeast Bronx, incorporated by the State of New

         16  York, and in existence since 1961. We are

         17  wholeheartedly in support of Tony Avella's

         18  legislation in the City Council, Intro. 679, which

         19  would establish a building moratorium and community

         20  about to be resolved.

         21                 After a two-year battle to preserve

         22  our residential community, the Olinville area is

         23  finally in the initial stage of rezoning. We have

         24  just been recently certified for rezoning and now

         25  the clock has started ticking.
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          2                 During this two-year time we have

          3  seen real estate developers buy one-family homes

          4  with gardens and garages and in their place build

          5  multi-family houses, no gardens of parking

          6  facilities.

          7                 The village-like atmosphere of our

          8  community is being drastically changed. We do

          9  recognize the length of time necessary for the

         10  entire rezoning process. However, a moratorium is

         11  needed during the final process of rezoning.

         12  Therefore, we support the legislation for a

         13  moratorium during the last stages of the rezoning

         14  process that would take effect on the day the

         15  Department of City Planning approves the zoning and

         16  last until the City Council gives final approval.

         17                 We wish the passage of this

         18  legislation because we know it will greatly aid all

         19  of the residents in the five boroughs.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 And I just want to say that, talk

         22  about people moving out because they can't find

         23  affordable housing, some people in my neighborhood

         24  who have lived there 23 years have seen all these

         25  drastic changes, the area is not the way they
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          2  remember it, because of its over-development, and

          3  today the middle class are moving out because of

          4  this overdevelopment.

          5                 So, I hope this passage, this

          6  legislation does get passed, and I thank the Queens

          7  Councilman. And I wish there were more people from

          8  the Bronx because we support all the boroughs, too.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         11                 Next.

         12                 MR. BANKOFF: Good afternoon. My name

         13  is Simeon Bankoff. I'm the Executive Director of the

         14  Historic Districts Council. HDC is a Citywide

         15  advocate for New York's historic neighborhoods. We

         16  deal with the primary constituency of over 500

         17  neighborhood groups from all five boroughs, and it's

         18  a pleasure to meet some of the people here.

         19                 HDC is in strong support of this

         20  bill. Frankly, we might be naive', but we were

         21  surprised when we discovered that this was not

         22  already part of the law. Perhaps we are naive', but

         23  we would like to think that if the City Planning

         24  Commission, an expert agency of City government, has

         25  spent the time and resources to determine a course
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          2  of action, once that action has begun a public

          3  process to eradication or denial, there should not

          4  be an easy out for the quick and the clever to

          5  ignore the hopefully sensible plans that the public

          6  agency is promoting.

          7                 That's not to say City Planning

          8  always knows best or is always right, but that's why

          9  there's a public process to require a public -- that

         10  requires public input to enact these

         11  recommendations, to allow an easy out the way that

         12  currently exists would undercut this process and

         13  disenfranchise the citizens of New York and

         14  duly-elected representatives to participate in this

         15  process.

         16                 We urge the Council support this

         17  sensible and important bill. I'd also like to just

         18  stay -- I live in Windsor Terrace area, which is

         19  about to undergo a rezoning, a downzoning, and we

         20  see constantly these people pouring construction,

         21  pouring foundations, tearing down houses, and,

         22  frankly, one thing that has not been mentioned is

         23  recently a few weeks ago, there was actually a death

         24  of a construction worker because of the speed that

         25  this is going on.
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          2                 I mean, these people are creating

          3  deathtraps for the workers. They're pushing them so

          4  very, very hard. And this is, it's ridiculous state

          5  of affairs and we greatly applaud this bill and hope

          6  that it does get passed.

          7                 And finally, just with regard, I

          8  didn't know about the sprinkler bill, but when I was

          9  in college some time ago, in the four years I was

         10  there, I went to college in Westchester, I saw two

         11  campus fires that happened. No fatalities, but there

         12  was immense amounts of damage to the grounds and the

         13  facilities. It could have been much worse than it

         14  was. I mean, people in colleges light candles,

         15  people in colleges smoke in bed, or at least they

         16  used to, and the more fire safety, the better.

         17                 I don't understand how this can even

         18  really be an issue.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

         21  very much.

         22                 Council Member Fidler?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Yes. Just it's

         24  really a brief comment and apology to the remaining

         25  speakers, because I have an appointment back in my
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          2  district.

          3                 But the gentleman from Community

          4  Board 13 in Queens mentioned the concept of

          5  self-certification and how that rushes things

          6  through.

          7                 I have also found in my district that

          8  the self-certification process is frequently,

          9  particularly on questions of interpretation,

         10  interpreted to allow far greater FAR than the

         11  Buildings Department actually would allow if they

         12  were doing a soup to nuts review of the permits that

         13  are being filed.

         14                 So, we have construction that's going

         15  up, you know, lickedy split with self-certification

         16  and, you know, when the neighbors discover what's

         17  going next door and we question whether it's really

         18  legal, finding out that buildings hasn't properly

         19  reviewed it, and that's an issue I think we need to

         20  address in connection with this.

         21                 And the other remark I'd like to make

         22  particularly is a parent of a child who three weeks

         23  ago moved into a dormitory room outside of the City

         24  of New York, I think the sprinkler bill is also a

         25  no-brainer. But you will be surprised to know that
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          2  within the City of New York, when you file a

          3  building permit, you say that you're building a

          4  dormitory, you get an extra floor on what the zoning

          5  would ordinarily permit.

          6                 Now, I represent Mill Island, which

          7  about as far away from Brooklyn, from NYU, as you

          8  possibly could be, and a builder, throughout a

          9  building, said he was building a dormitory for NYU,

         10  got an extra floor on it, constructed before anyone

         11  knew about it, and then you know what? Sun of a gun,

         12  the dormitory deal fell apart.

         13                 You know, maybe if he had to spring

         14  for the extra bucks to put a sprinkler in it, you

         15  know, that game might end as well.

         16                 It's absurd. It's ridiculous. And

         17  it's just another example of, you know, we had this

         18  belligerent tone from Mr. Altman, now, he may be a

         19  very nice guy, but the attitude of the real estate

         20  developers that come into our neighborhoods and find

         21  every loophole and make up a few to do things to our

         22  communities that create this adversarial

         23  relationship that we have with them, instead of

         24  trying to be fair and to build what the law permits

         25  in an appropriate way and consistent with the
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          2  character of the neighborhoods that they so

          3  desperately want to be part of.

          4                 And I apologize for those who have to

          5  leave and I don't get to hear, but that's all I have

          6  to say today.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          8                 Council Member Comrie, you had a

          9  comment?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Yes. I wanted

         11  to echo what Councilman Fidler has to say because I

         12  have to leave also. I have an singing event in my

         13  district that I'm supposed to host at 1:30, Council

         14  member, and I need to go. But I'm sorry.

         15                 But I was just curious, are there any

         16  more speakers in opposition to the bill?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: No.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. All

         19  right.

         20                 Well, I just want to congratulate

         21  Richard Hellenbrecht from Community Board 13, which

         22  is one of my two community boards. I think he's the

         23  best community board chair in the City, in my humble

         24  opinion. 'cause Richard has been on, you know,

         25  clearly in the issues of zoning and community
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          2  protection and fighting on behalf of ensuring that

          3  the quality of life for communities is so

          4  sacrosanct. Richard has immersed himself in the

          5  Zoning and the Buildings Department Regulations,

          6  he's been an active member of Queens Civic Congress,

          7  and he has been an invaluable member of so many

          8  organizations, and has become a real zoning expert.

          9                 I think we need to enlist him in

         10  helping us draft this particular bill.

         11                 I know that awhile ago Community

         12  Board 13 had asked for a moratorium, Community Board

         13  12 in my district has asked for a moratorium, it's

         14  just typical of the entire City. We have a real

         15  problem that we have to address here, and we need

         16  cooperation from all elements in the City to deal

         17  with this.

         18                 You know, I can understand that

         19  affordable housing is a problem. My wife's best

         20  friend just elected to relocate to Atlanta because

         21  the mortgage she was told that she could be eligible

         22  for didn't meet the cost of anything that she could

         23  find in New York City.

         24                 So, there is a problem, but we need

         25  to fix it by not busting neighborhoods up. We need
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          2  to fix it by not changing the quality of life for

          3  people that have put their time and investment for

          4  30 years only to find that someone next door is

          5  building a 14-room apartment building with no

          6  parking. You know, we can't ruin our City in our

          7  quest to try and accommodate everybody. And with

          8  that, I want to thank Madam Chair, for allowing me

          9  to go, even though she's not too happy about it, and

         10  Councilman Avella for putting these bills forth.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         13                 We have Howard Fever, from Brooklyn

         14  Community Board 11. No.

         15                 Melissa Baldak. Robert Furman.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Madam Chair,

         17  the representative from Brooklyn Community Board 11

         18  I saw had to leave.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: As a number of

         21  people had to.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

         23                 So, then we'll bring the last four

         24  people up.

         25                 Linda Eskenas, okay? And Daniel
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          2  McCalla. Okay.

          3                 Which ever one of you wants to start,

          4  you may.

          5                 Make sure the light is off.

          6                 MS. BALDAK: Good afternoon, Council

          7  members.

          8                 I'm Melissa Baldak, Director of

          9  Preservation and Research for the Greenwich Village

         10  Society for Historic Preservation.

         11                 GVSHP is a non-profit organization

         12  dedicated to preserving the architectural heritage

         13  in cultural history of Greenwich Village and the

         14  East Village.

         15                 GVSHP fully supports Intro. 679. Over

         16  the past year we have worked with the Department of

         17  City Planning to downzone the far west village

         18  section of Greenwich Village.

         19                 The rezoning plan was certified in

         20  July and just this week the City Planning Commission

         21  held a public hearing regarding the proposed

         22  rezoning.

         23                 As I speak, several developers in the

         24  Far West Village are racing to beat the clock to get

         25  the necessary permits and do the minimum amount of
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          2  construction work before the City Council approves

          3  the rezoning and the new height and FAR restrictions

          4  are put in place.

          5                 When I say literally as I speak, I

          6  mean literally as I speak. Yesterday a building was

          7  demolished and I believe probably as I speak right

          8  now they're starting the foundation work. I could

          9  check on that when I leave. And also what's going up

         10  in terms of affordable housing, and as no one could

         11  argue that a $3 million studio is affordable housing

         12  for anyone. There's no affordable housing going up

         13  in the neighborhood.

         14                 Unfortunately, it is quite possible

         15  that these developers may be successful as the ULURP

         16  process allots up to 200 days for the rezoning

         17  approval, which is often sufficient amount of time

         18  for construction.

         19                 If these developers do manage to beat

         20  the clock, the result will be out of scale and

         21  non-conforming developments that will forever marr

         22  the neighborhood.

         23                 Intro. 679 aims to eliminate the

         24  window in which developers raise to complete the

         25  necessary construction work before rezoning takes
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          2  effect.

          3                 Although the bill cannot be enacted

          4  in time to stop the developments that are planned

          5  for the Far West Village, it will have a huge effect

          6  on neighborhoods that will be rezoned in the future.

          7                 Without a doubt, the fast track

          8  construction commonly seen when the neighborhood is

          9  being rezoned, detrimentally affects the quality of

         10  the construction work and the safety of the workers

         11  of the site.

         12                 Eliminating the opportunity for

         13  developers to build quickly when a neighborhood is

         14  being rezoned, will help ensure that the scale of

         15  new construction fits with the new zoning rather

         16  than the old zoning. It will help the rushed and

         17  therefore sub par quality of the construction work.

         18                 I urge you to support Intro. 679.

         19  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         21                 Next.

         22                 MR. FURMAN: My name is Robert Furman.

         23  I'm the Chairman of the Four Boro Neighborhood

         24  Preservation Alliance, and I'm not going to read my

         25  prepared statement, because I don't think there's
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          2  anything in it that you haven't heard already today,

          3  and probably stated better.

          4                 What I am going to do instead in the

          5  few minutes I have is talk a little bit about my

          6  organization and give you a couple of examples of

          7  things that have been lost to over-development that

          8  I find particularly appalling.

          9                 And this is to encourage the Council

         10  members who are concerned about this to continue

         11  their efforts to do something about over-development

         12  and applaud the efforts you have made so far.

         13                 I got involved in this Four Borough

         14  Alliance sort of accidentally.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Could I just

         16  stop you a moment?

         17                 MR. FURMAN: I'm sorry.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Your

         19  testimony needs to be on the legislation today.

         20                 MR. FURMAN: It is on the legislation.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Oh.

         22                 MR. FURMAN: We're in favor of it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Oh, okay.

         24  You're giving us background on your group and that

         25  really isn't relevant to the legislation, so if you
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          2  just want to reneg and just speak on the

          3  legislation, you can.

          4                 MR. FURMAN: What I'd like to do is

          5  just give you a little background, in terms of the

          6  problem that's been brought to our attention and the

          7  titlewave of concern that's developing in the City

          8  about this. And the bill is one of the things that

          9  we feel is very important.

         10                 Is that okay?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: That's okay.

         12  As long as it relates to legislation.

         13                 MR. FURMAN: Yes, it does relate to

         14  the legislation.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

         16                 MR. FURMAN: I got involved in this

         17  almost accidentally because the Borough Historian,

         18  and the former Borough Historian of Brooklyn

         19  couldn't attend a meeting, and I was absolutely

         20  shocked at the degree of intensity of feeling that

         21  is coming out all over the City about these issues

         22  over the last six months, that an organization could

         23  come out of nothing and suddenly become a major

         24  voice on these issues was quite shocking to me.

         25                 The other thing I wanted to say is
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          2  that there have been large numbers of structures

          3  that have been destroyed over the last years, that

          4  hopefully bills like this will have some effect on.

          5                 One example I wanted to cite is that

          6  in the South Slope area, where Greenwood Cemetery,

          7  which is a revolutionary war site, has a shrine

          8  where the Goddess Minerva points to the Statue of

          9  Liberty, review is about to be blocked by a new

         10  building which is totally out of context to the

         11  area, and there was nothing that could be done about

         12  it in terms of the law because the zoning permitted

         13  it and there was no pending rezoning.

         14                 But people were so upset that they

         15  were ready to tear the developer apart, and they

         16  went to him and they said, look, see what you're

         17  doing, take a look at this. Have some concern about

         18  your heritage as an American, and they did get him

         19  through this process to reconsider what he was doing

         20  and to create a site line at least so that Minerva

         21  can continue to salute the Statue of Liberty, and if

         22  legislation like the one you're producing today is

         23  not approved, there will be losses like this all

         24  over the City and our heritage will be irretrievably

         25  lost.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          4                 If it's off, it's on. All right.

          5                 MS. ESKENAS: I'm Linda Eskenas, and

          6  I'm representing the North Shore Waterfront

          7  Greenbelt. And I'm also part of the Four Boro

          8  Neighborhood Preservation Alliance.

          9                 The passing of Intro. 670 would save

         10  New York neighborhoods. Our historic American

         11  buildings are of crucial importance to New York and

         12  New Yorkers. They are New York's identity. They give

         13  people a sense of place and pride, they create

         14  neighborhoods in which we live. They tell us the

         15  story of our country and people who built it. There

         16  are living, standing American heritage. They are the

         17  diversity and brilliance that visitors from all over

         18  the world admire and come here to see. They are

         19  irreplaceable and we're losing them.

         20                 We're losing our buildings and

         21  neighborhoods, our waterfront, even our air and

         22  space and light to destructive, unchecked builders,

         23  who demolish our legacy while receiving staggering

         24  tax abatements, and inflating a market that is

         25  unsustainable, thus endangering our economy.
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          2                 And I just want to insert that we do

          3  not need those people to help us with affordable

          4  housing. We need them to go away.

          5                 We could probably solve it all with

          6  the tax abatement that they continually dwelled

          7  upon.

          8                 On Staten Island there are

          9  under-sized, unattractive, badly built, often unsafe

         10  and over-priced boxes called "nouveau slums," they

         11  call affordable housing.

         12                 In Manhattan they are tottering boxes

         13  with glass fronts that cut off light, space, vision

         14  and air, and often blocking people from the

         15  waterfront which is one of the most important

         16  elements in modern urban planning.

         17                 These are not only dangerous but they

         18  destroy the surrounding communities and

         19  neighborhoods, gouging out beautiful significant

         20  houses and buildings, where an important

         21  neighborhood or an historic area has been trying

         22  bravely to come back, as is happening on the north

         23  shore of Staten Island in West Brighton, where real

         24  people who do not get tax abatement have put their

         25  savings into and are saving New York.
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          2                 Our positive future lies in the

          3  encouragement of individuals, individuals who

          4  restore our buildings and neighborhoods, which

          5  comprise our City, and most of our houses, let's

          6  say, are historic houses because they are all old,

          7  they are old interesting, they are all fascinating.

          8                 Respect for those who came before us

          9  shall create a great future both for now and future

         10  generations. Most of the destruction we see, of

         11  course, is in the period of time even before the

         12  City Planning approves the rezoning plan, and the

         13  City Council approves it, as has been said.

         14                 Builders have been trying to level

         15  parts of neighborhoods so that they can put in

         16  foundations, however flimsy, and we get all these,

         17  you know, crack basement complaints. Then to put up

         18  as many structures as they can before the new zoning

         19  goes into effect, which would require less density

         20  and protect neighborhoods and people who live in

         21  them and ultimately protect New York, as you are

         22  trying to do.

         23                 Intro. 679 successfully addresses

         24  this serious problem and we urge you to pass it.

         25                 Thank you for all you do.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          3                 MR. McCALLA: Is this on? All right,

          4  my name is Daniel McCalla. I am the Vice Chair of

          5  the Fort Green -- I mean the Four Boro Neighborhood

          6  Preservation Alliance for Brooklyn, and I'm a member

          7  of the Ft. Green Association.

          8                 Intro. 679 is long overdue. It can't

          9  be passed fast enough, okay? Just around the corner

         10  of my house, a developer dug a hole because he knew

         11  that we were trying to get an application to

         12  downzone Fort Green and Clinton Hill. He put up

         13  boards that were safety issues. We called the

         14  numbers anonymously reported, the cops were there

         15  for a few days and now it is left unchecked,

         16  probably for two to three years. Just down the block

         17  another developer has put in an application to build

         18  a large highrise building, however, when our

         19  Community Board 2 voted on it, they said we could

         20  not vote on it until the zoning change happened.

         21                 He said, well, I'll just go to the

         22  Board of Standards and Appeals and get a variance.

         23  All throughout Brooklyn, we've already had a death

         24  on a construction site in Sunset Park. When the

         25  Bayridge downzoning happened, the Buildings
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          2  Department gave the developer a permit for the day

          3  after.

          4                 The Buildings Department thinks that

          5  we shouldn't be doing this and it will affect

          6  developments in upzoning.

          7                 However, before the Williamsburg

          8  development upzoning happened, a developer dug a

          9  foundation, and he hits a subway tunnel, and this is

         10  not an isolated incident. We need this legislation

         11  to bring order out of chaos, okay? Order out of

         12  chaos. The developers are just in a rush to make a

         13  quick buck, and for someone to use affordable

         14  housing as a reason why we don't need this is

         15  disgraceful.

         16                 Affordable housing to developers is

         17  flavor of the month. All I see them put up is

         18  condominium after condominium after condominium.

         19                 We just, I mean I am just completely

         20  behind this legislation because, you know, my

         21  neighborhood, we have radar of what development is

         22  coming next. I mean, we're surrounded from Atlantic

         23  Yards, Downtown Brooklyn, Williamsburg, Red Hook, it

         24  just goes on and on, okay? We got traffic problems

         25  up to our necks. And the problem is, this is not
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          2  just us, we might end up in Queens, this situation,

          3  where it's just knock-down city. Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          5  Thank all four of you.

          6                 I think it's interesting to say that

          7  I think just about all of our boroughs are

          8  represented. I tend to think, you know, when it was

          9  my problem in my district, I thought it was our

         10  problem, and then, you know, Staten Island and Tony

         11  and everybody started, and I think, you know, in my

         12  district we've been addressing it, but probably

         13  yours is similar, it's almost too late because so

         14  much has been done already that we're kind of at the

         15  tail end of trying to save it, and that unfortunate,

         16  but I so totally support it that I would ask you

         17  work with whoever you're going to work with, get the

         18  changes made done because I would like to be the one

         19  that passes this for you.

         20                 So, thank all of you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Madam Chair,

         22  if I may?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I want to

         25  thank you for expediting this hearing and for your
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          2  support of this bill, and for everybody that waited

          3  like three hours to speak.

          4                 As you said, you know, this problem

          5  is now in every borough. We've had testimony in

          6  support of this from every single borough. And there

          7  are a lot of people who are expressing support who

          8  couldn't be here today, and the very fact that

          9  community boards are coming on line on this.

         10                 This is something we must do. There

         11  is no way out of this. You can't ignore this

         12  problem, and we have to bite the bullet and take

         13  some strong action to preserve our neighborhoods.

         14                 Thank you, Madam Chair, and thank you

         15  to everybody who came out today.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         17                 West Moreland Association, we had

         18  Walter Mugdan who was here and he had to leave, so

         19  we're going to put this in the record.

         20                 I think that's all. All three bills

         21  will be laid over. Thank you for hanging out with me

         22  for the bitter end.

         23                 This meeting is adjourned. Have a

         24  good weekend.

         25                 (The following written testimony was
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          2  read into the record.)

          3

          4  Written Testimony Of:

          5  Howard Feuer

          6  District Manager of Brooklyn Community Board 11

          7

          8                 Good morning. My name is Howard Feuer

          9  and I am District Manager of Brooklyn Community

         10  Board 11. I would like to thank Chairperson Madeline

         11  T. Provenzano for holding this hearing.

         12                 I am here today to testify on Int.

         13  679, to amend the administrative code of the City of

         14  New York, in relation to the issuance of building

         15  permits for areas where a rezoning application is

         16  pending.

         17                 On June 23, 2005, the Council

         18  approved the Bensonhurst rezoning application. From

         19  the time that the City Planning certified our

         20  application, on February 14, 2005, our neighborhood

         21  was under siege by developers and contractors who

         22  were "trying to beat the clock".

         23                 During ULURP, we had 40 demolitions

         24  within this small 120 block rezoning area, 32 new

         25  building applications filed and I must stress that

                                                            148

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  19 were self-certified.

          3                 In an attempt to complete foundations

          4  before the City Council took action, area residents

          5  were subjected to dump trucks racing through our

          6  streets, containers and equipment stored everywhere.

          7  Our neighborhood looked like a disaster area.

          8                 In addition, we faced contractors

          9  working illegally on Saturdays and Sundays, they

         10  worked on weekends in a race to get their

         11  foundations in, knowing that there were no Building

         12  Department inspectors to enforce weekend work.

         13                 It should also be acknowledged that

         14  during the ULURP, area residents were solicited by

         15  developers in an effort to sell their homes

         16  immediately.

         17                 This caused tension between

         18  neighbors, those who sold, and those who wanted to

         19  remain committed to maintaining their neighborhood.

         20                 I want to congratulate Council

         21  Members Avella, and the Council members representing

         22  my district: Gentile, Recchia Jr., and Oddo for

         23  introducing this very important legislation.

         24                 (Hearing concluded at 12:55 p.m.)

         25
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 16th day of September 2005.
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                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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